PAGE  

[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO

ENERGY

BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB-2007-0797

	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:


	Motion to Review 
November 9, 2007

Pamela Nowina
Paul Sommerville
Ken Quesnelle 


	Presiding Member and Vice Chair
Member

Member




EB-2007-0797
IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c.15 (Schedule B); 

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Hydro One Networks Inc. for the review and approval of connection procedures; 

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Great Lakes Power Limited for the review and approval of connection procedures; 

AND IN THE MATTER OF Rules 42, 44.01 and 45.01 of the Board’s Rules of Practice and Procedure.
Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street, 

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario, on Friday,

November 9, 2007, commencing at 9:30 a.m.
-------------------------------------
Motion to Review
-------------------------------------

BEFORE:



PAMELA NOWINA

PRESIDING MEMBER AND VICE CHAIR



PAUL SOMMERVILLE
MEMBER



KEN QUESNELLE

MEMBER

MARTINE BAND
Board Counsel

MAUREEN HELT
Board Staff

NABIH MIKAIL
NEIL McKAY
MICHAEL ENGELBERG
Hydro One Networks Inc.
PAT MORAN
Electricity Distributors 

MONA PINCHIS
Association
JOHN RATTRAY
Independent Electricity System Operators

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union

FRED CASS
Ontario Power Generation

JOSIE ERZETIC

CARLTON MATHIAS
Bruce Power

GEORGE VEGH
Ontario Power Authority

ROBERT FRANK
Electrical Contractors 

HEATHER LANDYMORE
Association of Ontario

SARAH GRIFFITHS
PowerStream Inc.


Coalition of Large Distributors
ALSO PRESENT:

ODED HUBERT
Hydro One Networks Inc.

BING YOUNG
Ontario Power Authority

1--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.


2Appearances


3Procedural Matters


3Submissions by Mr. Engelberg


27Submissions by Mr. Moran


41Submissions by Mr. Rattray


49Further submissions by Mr. Engelberg


52Further submissions by Mr. Moran


58--- Recess taken at 11:12 a.m.


58--- Upon resuming at 11:34 a.m.


58Submissions by Mr. Cass


69Submissions by Mr. Mathias


74Submissions by Mr. Stephenson


94Submissions by Mr. Vegh


114--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:15 p.m.


114--- Upon resuming at 2:26 p.m.


114Submissions by Ms. Band


124Submissions by Mr. Frank


135Further submissions by Mr. Engelberg


146--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.


146--- Upon resuming at 3:50 p.m.


146--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.




NO EXHIBITS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

8EXHIBIT NO. K1:  EXCERPT FROM CIRCUIT WORLD CORP. v. LESPERANCE (1997), 33 O.R. (3d) 674


29EXHIBIT NO. K2:  EXCERPT FROM COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IN RUSSELL v. SHANAHAN 52 O.R. (3d) 9


74EXHIBIT NO. K3:  BRIEF OF MATERIALS SUBMITTED BY POWER WORKERS' UNION.


128EXHIBIT NO. K4:  EXCERPT FROM TRANSCRIPT IN  RP-1999-0044.


131EXHIBIT NO. K5:  DECISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION




NO UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED DURING THIS PROCEEDING

Error! No table of figures entries found.


Friday, November 9, 2007

--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:   Please be seated.


 Good morning, everyone.  On September 6th, 2007 the Board issued its decision and order in relation to applications by Hydro One Networks and Great Lakes Power under the Transmission System Code for review and approval of their respective connection procedures.  The joint proceeding was given file numbers EB-2006-0189 and EB-2006-0200.


On October 9th, 2007, Hydro One filed with the Board a notice of motion for the review of two elements of the decision.  The Board has given this review hearing file number EB-2007-0797.


On October 26th, the Board issued Procedural Order 

No. 1 for this hearing.  The procedural order outlined four preliminary matters arising from Hydro One's motion.  


They are:  first, the request by Hydro One to waive the deadline for filing of its motion notice of motion; two, the threshold question under Rule 45.01 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of whether sections 3.3 and 3.5 of the should be reviewed; three, Hydro One's request for an order staying the implementation and effects of sections 3.3 and 3.5 of the connection procedures decision and Hydro One's request for an order extending the deadline by which it must file new connection procedures concerning matters affected by section 3.3 and 3.5 of the connection procedures decision.


We sit today to hear submissions on these preliminary matters.


May I have appearances, please?

Appearances


MR. ENGELBERG:  Michael Engelberg, Hydro One Networks Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.


MR. MORAN:  Pat Moran for the Electricity Distributors Association, and here with me from my firm is Mona Pinchis, P-I-N-C-H-I-S.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran. 


MR. HUBERT:  Oded Hubert, Hydro One Networks Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hubert.


MR. RATTRAY:  John Rattray for the Independent Electricity System Operators.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rattray.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Richard Stephenson for the Power Workers' Union.  Good morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. CASS:  Fred Cass and Josie Erzetic for Ontario Power Generation.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  


MR. MATHIAS:  Carlton Mathias for Bruce Power.


MS. NOWINA:  Mathias?


MR. MATHIAS:  Mathias.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mathias.


MR. VEGH:  George Vegh for the Ontario Power Authority.  I am joined by Mr. Bing Young of the Ontario Power Authority.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Vegh.


MR. FRANK:  Robert Frank and Heather Landymore for the Electrical Contractors Association of Ontario.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Frank.


MS. GRIFFITHS:  Sarah Griffiths with PowerStream and CLD.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Griffiths.


Are there any preliminary matters?


MS. BAND:  Board Staff doesn't have any preliminary matters, and we have not been advised of any.  And, also, just to complete the appearances --


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.


MS. BAND:  -- I am Martine Band, counsel for Board Staff.  I have with me Maurine Helt, also counsel for Board Staff; Nabih Mikhail; and behind me Mr. Neil McKay.

Procedural Matters


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Band.  Our order of proceeding, then, this morning will be as follows:  Hydro One will begin, followed by the supporters of Hydro One's motion.  We will then hear from Board Staff, followed by others who oppose Hydro One's motion.


So, Mr. Engelberg, you may lead.

Submissions by Mr. Engelberg


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  I would like to begin by saying that the Board's Rule 44.01 says that:

"The grounds for a motion raising a question as to the correctness of a decision may include, among other things, an error in fact, a change in circumstances, new facts that have arisen and facts that were not previously placed in evidence and could not have been discovered by reasonable diligence at the time."


I will be referring occasionally to the Board's May 22nd, 2007 decision in the motions to review the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review decision, which I believe people refer to as the NGEIR decision, where the Board stated at page 14 that the words "may include" as giving a list of examples of grounds for review.  In other words, the four grounds I just mentioned are not an exhaustive list.


The Board then concluded that it has the jurisdiction to review even when the grounds are errors of mixed fact and law, as well as other grounds.


In the NGEIR motion, the situation was different from the situation before you today, in that my understanding is there were no issues relating to new evidence in that decision.


I, therefore, submit that insofar as the Board stated in the NGEIR motion that certain matters did not meet the threshold test, that finding should not apply with respect to Hydro One's motion before you today, in which missing evidence is, indeed, an issue.


Now, with respect to the threshold test, Rule 44.01(a) requires the party asking for a review to set out the grounds that raise a question as to the correctness of the decision.  The Board stated at page 18 in the NGEIR motion that:

"The purpose of the threshold test is to determine whether the grounds raise such a question and whether there is enough substance to the issues being raised by the moving party that a review based on those issues could result in the Board deciding that the decision should either be varied, cancelled or suspended.  The applicant should also demonstrate that the alleged error is material and that it is relevant to the outcome."


 Now, Hydro One would like to take comfort from the fact that the submissions to date show that a great number of parties agree with Hydro One's submission, that it has met all of the tests required to meet the threshold for review, but I understand that the fact is that the numbers, alone, don't count.


What does count, however, is that the contents of Hydro One's submissions and of the submissions of the vast majority of the other intervenors show, in many ways, that evidence was missing; that the evidence that was missing could not have been before the Board, because the applicant and the intervenors were not even aware that evidence on those matters was in issue; that there were errors of law, and, because of the missing evidence and other reasons, there were also errors of fact; that the errors were material, they were relevant to the outcome, and that the Board's decision could well have been different; that the grounds alleged raise a question as to the correctness of the decision, and that the matters raised are not insignificant matters.  They are matters of substance, of concern to a great number of parties, and, judging by the extent of participation, are matters that are not frivolous or vexatious.


There is no question that a motion for review is not to be used for the purpose of rearguing a case on the same evidence and grounds that the Board heard before.  Those who are opposed to this review may submit that that is what Hydro One and almost all of the other intervenors are doing.  But in Hydro One's submission, the written submissions of those other intervenors show that that is not what we have in this case.


Now, in addition to the threshold argument today, Hydro One needs to address two other matters:  First, the matter that Hydro One's motion for review was made 12 days later than the time period specified in the Board's rules; second, the matter of the application for a stay of the Board's decision, for which a review is requested, only insofar as that decision requires Hydro One to amend its connection procedures in areas that Hydro One seeks a review, and only insofar as that decision prohibits Hydro One from carrying out certain activities in the interim period that it has been carrying out for years to the knowledge of the Board and most of the participants here today.


On those two matters, Hydro One submits the following.  In written submissions filed with the Board on November 1, Hydro One gave a true and ample explanation of its reasons for filing 12 days late and for requesting the Board to allow the motion to be heard notwithstanding that 12-day delay.  


I don't propose to go into those reasons again in oral submissions, but I would add that in addition to those reasons, Hydro One respectfully submits that there is no party, no intervenor, no observer in this proceeding who will suffer prejudice if the 20-day period is not extended by 12 days.

Now, regarding the matter of the stay itself, Hydro One submits that it meets the test for obtaining a stay.  

In the well-known case of RJR-MacDonald and Canada, there is a three-prong test which states that there must be serious issues presented for the appeal or, in this case, the review; there would be irreparable harm if the stay were not granted; and the balance of convenience must favour the stay. 

In Hydro One's submission, it is obvious that the issues before the Board today are serious.  The nature of the services being provided by Hydro One and the deterrent to system building and reliability created by the decision's capital contributions findings would result in irreparable harm if the services were suddenly abandoned and if the new capital contribution scheme were put into place for the first time for what may be only an interim period; and the balance of convenience on that point surely must be in favour of continuing the status quo that has existed for years before the decision, rather than putting drastic changes in place for a short period of time, or what may be a short period of time, while the Board considers the matters for which a review has been requested.

I also cite the case Circuit World Corp. v. Lesperance (1997), 33 O.R. (3d) 674, which is an Ontario Court of Appeal decision that stands for the principle that weakness in any one of the three-pronged requirements set out in RJR-MacDonald may be compensated for by strength in another.

Now, I have copies of the Circuit World case that I would be glad to hand out, either now or perhaps at the morning break.

MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do it now and mark it?

MS. BAND:  Madam Chair, we can assign that Exhibit K1.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1:  EXCERPT FROM CIRCUIT WORLD CORP. v. LESPERANCE (1997), 33 O.R. (3d) 674


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have another dozen here, should people like them.

 I would also like to state here, for the record, that Hydro One's interest in these matters before the Board today is out of a concern for its customers, in keeping with the goals of the Ontario Energy Board Act, considering the interests of consumers, and Hydro One's interest in these matters is also to promote market efficiency.  It is not a financial incentive that motivates Hydro One to raise these matters with the Board today.

I would like to move on, then, from the request for a 12-day extension and the request for a stay to the two matters that form the heart of the motion for review and I would like to go into those now.

The first is the matter of section 71(1) of the OEB Act as it relates to services and contractor work and construction provided by Hydro One to third parties.  That matter is found in Section 3.3 of the decision for which we have requested a review.  


The second matter we would like to deal with in that decision is the matter of principles for determining capital contributions for line connections.  That matter is found in Section 3.5 of the decision.

Now, on the first matter, the matter of Section 71 of the OEB Act, I really can't proceed without pointing out that in Board Staff's written submissions, which we received yesterday, it is stated at pages 2 and 3 that 
"the decision stands only for the proposition that Section 71 of the Act prohibits a transmitter from constructing or from acting as a contractor in relation to the construction of customer-owned facilities, where the customer has elected not to require the transmitter to construct and own the connection facilities."


Board Staff continues with that line of thought at page 4 of their submissions for this hearing, when Staff referred to the variety of services provided by Hydro One related to customer-owned facilities, such as protection and control service, maintenance and repair services and meeting services.  Board Staff submits to you that those matters were not the subject matter of the connection procedures decision and are, therefore, not affected by it.


I can only conclude that Board Staff is taking the position that those services are not prohibited by the decision, and if that were correct, no evidence would be required on those points, and no stay would be needed by Hydro One in order to continue those activities.

Now, I wish that were the case, but, in Hydro One's submission, that reasoning is puzzling, and I can point to a number of places in the decision to support Hydro One's interpretation.

First of all, at page 11 of the decision, the last paragraph says, and I quote:
"Section 71 of the Act prohibits Hydro One from acting as a contractor on behalf of the customer in relation to customer-owned facilities."  End of quote.

When Hydro One provides protection and control services, which include engineering, to its customers, including Ontario Power Generation and Bruce Power and others, Hydro One is acting as a contractor on their behalf in relation to customer-owned facilities, which is exactly what the decision spoke of as being prohibited.

When Hydro One does maintenance and repair services, it is acting as a contractor in relation to customer-owned facilities.

When Hydro One acts as a metering service provider to Bruce Power and OPG, it is acting as a contractor in relation to customer-owned facilities.

I ask rhetorically whether Hydro One was supposed to assume that the decision did not apply to those services, as Board Staff submits in its submissions.

Also at page 11 of the decision, we read in the second paragraph that Section 71 must be interpreted by looking at whether the facilities in question are part of the plant, owned, operated and controlled by a transmission customer.

In other words, what the decision says is that ownership is the key to determining whether Section 71 is being violated.  Hydro One's response is that when it provides services to its customers in the nature of maintenance and repair, when it provides protection and control services, which include engineering, and when it provides metering services, ownership is always held by the customer.

Again I ask whether Hydro One was supposed to assume that the decision did not apply to those services.


Again, at page 11 of the decision, the third paragraph refers not only to the ownership test, which I've just mentioned -- and by the way, I should add here that the ownership test, who owns the assets, can be found nowhere in section 71 of the OEB Act.  There is no reference to it.

But the third paragraph of the decision on page 11 also refers to the reasoning that where a transmitter's activity is for the purpose of meeting its license obligation, that seems to be an activity that is okay.  But when a transmitter competes in the marketplace, there could be cross-subsidization of these unregulated activities by the regulated business, and, therefore, such activities fall outside the transmitter's scope.

I point out, again, that when Hydro One is providing protection and control services, which involve engineering and construction, when Hydro One is providing metering services and maintenance and repair services, it's not doing so in order to meet its license obligation.  In fact, it is competing in the marketplace, which, according to what I understand from the words of the decision, raises the spectre of cross-subsidization, which means immediately that the activity is prohibited.

Again, I ask whether Hydro One was supposed to assume that the clear words in the decision somehow did not apply to the many services being provided by Hydro One.

Next and, again, also at page 11 of the decision, compliance bulletin of the Board No. 2006-05 is mentioned in the next-to-last paragraph.  That compliance bulletin, which in Hydro One's understanding does not have the force of law, states that:
"A distributor may not provide engineering services provided outside the scope of a distributor's obligations, for example, in relation to privately owned electrical infrastructure."

The metering services that I've mentioned already, the engineering services, the protection and control services, all of which may involve construction, and the maintenance and repair services are all contractor services provided by Hydro One to third parties on their assets that are provided outside the scope of Hydro One's licence obligations, and they are provided in relation to privately owned electrical infrastructure.

I ask again rhetorically whether Hydro One was supposed to take the position that these clear words from the decision referring to the compliance bulletin, now that they have been cited as authority in a Board decision, did not apply to the services and construction work provided by Hydro One.

I would like to add one more example of services that seem, to me, to be prohibited by the Board's decision.

Hydro One and other transmitters and LDCs provide each other with emergency assistance in the case of storms and other incidents in the province and outside the province.

On the basis of the decision and its reasoning, including the compliance bulletin that I just referred to, I submit that such activity would be prohibited.  First, no transmitter is under any obligation in its licence to perform such activities for other transmitters.  Although it is well known that each transmitter must have an emergency plan in place, that plan is with respect to its own assets.  It is not with respect to helping out other transmitters and distributors.  

Secondly, the work that is being provided in these situations to other utilities is not on the transmitter's own assets.  So it would fail the ownership test set out in the decision.

Hydro One's submission is that the problems raised above point out not only the problem with respect to these so-called other services and work provided to third parties, they also point out the problem raised by the decision with respect to the construction work for customer-owned connection facilities, which Board Staff says, in its submission, is the only area that the decision was intended to address.

But these problems that I mentioned with the interpretation and these new tests that are being set out with ownership of assets and providing work to third parties and whether it's construction, they call into question the reasoning of the Board even with respect to what Board Staff submits was the sole matter that the decision was intended to deal with.

In our submission, they point out those problems with the Board's reasoning and call it into question for a number of reasons.

Number one, when the Board made its decision, it had no evidence concerning these other construction services and work and services provided by Hydro One to third parties.  There can be no doubt, in Hydro One's submission, that the Board would have taken that evidence into consideration in rendering its decision.

Number two, had the Board had that evidence, it would have been of assistance not only with respect to those other activities, but also with respect to the decision as to what the meaning of section 71 is and on how to interpret the Transmission System Code with respect to the limited activity of construction work provided by transmitters to connection customers on connection assets that they choose to own.

Number three, had the Board heard that evidence, it would have seen that neither the test of who owns the asset or the test of whether the activity is one that is mandated by the transmitter's licence is an appropriate test.  Both of those tests lead to contradictory and confusing results.

Number four, had the Board had that evidence, it would have become more apparent to the Board that the real issue is not ownership.  The real issue is not whether the activity is one that is mandated by the licence, and the real issue is not the possibility of conducting multiple activities within a regulated corporation.

I submit we all know there are ample safeguards already in place being used by the Board and utilities to prevent cross-subsidization through accounting practices and transparent pricing required by the Board.  In fact, there is even a net benefit to ratepayers, in that profits from these other activities serve as some benefit to regulated rates.

But none of these tests are the real issue, in our submission.  The real issue that the proceeding called into question and that the far-reaching decision calls into question is the determination of how to interpret what activities are included in or prohibited by the meaning of the word "transmission" when it appears in section 71 of the Act.

I would refer to you one of the submissions of the IESO, which you will be hearing from later today, which is that the customer-owned facilities decision has a great effect on the reliability of the system and creates problems with respect to that matter.

Hydro One's submission is that this calls into question the correctness of the decision and meets the other threshold tests, as well.

Furthermore, the reason that the evidence was not before the Board is important.  I think the parties and Board Staff who are opposing the introduction of that evidence that was not before the Board give grounds for that opposition.  They're saying that Hydro One and other intervenors and other parties could have brought that evidence before the Board, so there is no excuse that it wasn't there.

But, in our submission, neither Hydro One nor the intervenors, nor other parties who did not intervene but would have, nor perhaps even the Board itself, were aware that the matter before the Board was anything other than a proceeding about Hydro One's connection procedures.

Hydro One submits that not even the limited ground as to what work Hydro One could or could not do on customer-owned connection assets, that was not an issue in the proceeding.  So evidence on that narrower matter was lacking, as well.

Instead, on that point, what the Board did was not consider facts that would have been enlightening, and there is a very good reason for that.  Those facts were not before the Board.

The Board considered various sections of the Transmission System Code and determined that ownership of assets was the test in section 6.6 of the code, despite the fact that section 6.6 of the code seems to clearly state that a load customer can require the transmitter to do work or, in certain cases, the load customer can elect to do the work itself.

Hydro One submits that consideration of the missing evidence would be important and would have resulted in a different decision.

Hydro One also submits that the Board failed to take into account the interests of consumers in reaching that decision, and the requirement to take those interests into account is one of the purposes of the OEB Act.

Therefore, Hydro One's submission is that in addition to the matter of the missing evidence, the Board made errors of fact and law.

Therefore, to conclude my submissions on the section 71 part of the decision, Hydro One submits that the correctness of the decision has been called into question, that it has been called into question in a material way, and that the threshold for review has thereby been met.

I would like to address the part of the decision that deals with capital contributions, and my submissions on that point are shorter.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The part about capital contributions is dealt with in section 3.5 of the decision.

Hydro One submits that the Board erred again in fact and law by making a finding in its decision that was contrary to the evidence before the Board, which was primarily the Transmission System Code, again.

Hydro One also submits that the Board erred by not considering the interests of consumers as required by the Act.

Again, in Hydro One's submission, the errors made by the Board were material, they were relevant to the outcome and the would be different if the errors were corrected.

In its decision on capital contributions, the Board stated that the only exemptions available to customers are the costs responsibility exemptions associated with "unique system elements" -- and those three words are in quotations -- found at page 24 of the decision; and in plans for "system reliability" -- again in quotations -- only, which is found at page 22.

In our submission, there is no basis in the TSC for exemptions related to those two categories.  The concept of unique system elements is not even found in the TSC.

Although the concept of system reliability plan exists, section 6.3.6 doesn't even mention a system-reliability-only plan, and there is no reference to such a plan anywhere else in the code.

I suggest that a simple way to illustrate that a question has been raised as to the correctness of the decision, and that there is substance to such question as to merit a review and that the error is material and relevant to the outcome, is to look at the consequences of the Board's decision in this regard.

According to the Board's decision, a capital contribution would be required from one customer who requests an enhancement on certain connection facilities; another customer would be exempted from making a contribution if he does not request that very same enhancement.

This results -- even if the facilities are identical, and even if the facilities serve exactly the same purpose, Hydro One submits that a result like that is inconsistent and unfair.

It is also inconsistent and unfair to require a capital contribution from one customer who participates in a joint study with Hydro One or another transmitter on certain connection facilities, while exempting a contribution from another customer who does not participate in such a study.

The result occurs because the consequences of the decision implicitly assign cost responsibility in identical circumstances, based on the mechanics of the process by which the plan was developed, rather than on who benefited.  

This inconsistency in both cases calls into question the correctness of the decision.  In our submission, a correct decision would not result in inconsistencies such as the ones I have mentioned.

Instead, Hydro One points to Section 6.3.6 of the code, which specifically requires transmitters to develop plans to meet load growth, and to maintain the reliability and integrity of its transmission system, and Section 6.2.5, which requires a transmitter to ensure that there is sufficient available capacity to satisfy its customers' requirements.

Hydro One says that these plans -- the ones I just mentioned -- are the ones that are referenced in Section 6.3.6 of the code, for which capital contributions are exempted.

I would also like to draw your attention to Section 3 in the synopsis of changes to the Transmission System Code.  That's the section on cost responsibility.  

It states, and I quote:
"Such plans are expected to be developed by transmitters to address growing demand, system reliability and integrity.  These plans will also be essential to determine whether a particular connection project is truly triggered by the needs of a specific customer."

Hydro One submits that such plans are local area supply plans, as defined in Hydro One's connection procedures.  So such facilities should, therefore, be exempt from the requirement for capital contributions.

Hydro One submits that the Board's decision creates regulatory uncertainty by concluding in the decision that cost responsibility for connection facilities must be determined on a case-by-case basis.  That is stated at page 23 of the decision.

There can be no doubt that the result will be inconsistent and unfair treatment of customers with respect to cost responsibility.

Hydro One would not be able to determine the proper allocation of cost responsibility.  Customers would not have any certainty as to whether they must, in any given situation, make a capital contribution or, if so, how much that contribution would be.  Delays would occur with respect to leave-to-construct applications.  Each case would be dealt with by the Board case by case, and Hydro One would need to consult with the Board to seek clarity in advance for each project, to determine what costs are excluded for the determination of capital contributions.

Even if the Board empowered Staff to give opinions on these concerns, those determinations or opinions by Board Staff would need to be upheld by a Board panel in each case.

Hydro One and other parties could not make business decisions where cost responsibility is uncertain, until approval is obtained from the Board.

In Hydro One's submission, there would be customer confusion and unnecessary exposure to financial risk.  Not only to Hydro One -- that's the small part of it, perhaps 
-- but also to the customers.

On the contrary, in Hydro One's submission, the plain meaning of Section 6.3.6 of the code is that the transmitter shall not require a capital contribution in the circumstances described in that section.

There was a material error made by the Board in stating that 6.3.6 is a provision to be used only as an exception to the general rule, which the decision states at pages 22, 23 and 24.  Hydro One states that the plain meaning of 6.3.6 is that that is the general rule.

If the Board's error were corrected, the outcome would have been different.  The decision erred in not recognizing that transmission planning is necessarily an integrated exercise, which addresses not only system reliability but also system integrity and load growth.

Those elements cannot be considered separately for the purpose of assigning cost responsibility.

So Hydro One says that the decision erred in not reaching an outcome that would lead to consistent and repeatable decisions pertaining to cost responsibility, rather than the inconsistent, unfair, impractical and unworkable case-by-case approach.

The decision also erred in making a determination based on the communication process between the transmitter and its customers to assign cost responsibility, instead of focussing on the intended benefit of the facilities to be built.

The Board's decision has the effect of assigning cost responsibility on the basis of who spoke to whom and at what time, rather than on the benefits.

If we look at 6.3.6 again, Hydro One relies on the plain meaning of the words.  The section is simple.  The decision erred in a material way by trying to find a different meaning for 6.3.6, and the result was inconsistency, unfairness and impracticality.

In Hydro One's submission, then, the decision did not protect the interests of consumers, contrary to the Act, and the creation of uncertainty itself is contrary to regulatory principles, which strive for transparency, consistency, fairness, and predictability.

When the decision stated that Section 6.3 of the code provides that, in almost all cases where the transmitter is enhancing its equipment to accommodate the needs of a line connection, a capital contribution will be required from the customers.  


The Board failed to address a number of issues, thereby erring in fact and in law in a material way.

Firstly, local area supply facilities are primarily for the benefit of the pool, not for the individual customer.  And this benefit is directly related to system reliability and integrity.  Again, I believe that the IESO made submissions on that point, as well.

Number 2, there is a risk that properly planned local area supply facilities will not be placed in service, because of one or more customers' inability to raise the capital for required contributions.  Hydro One has already seen this happen.

Hydro One, therefore, submits that the decision is unworkable, unmanageable and full of risk to customers and to the transmitter, and that, therefore, it contains material errors that qualify the decision for a review.
Board Staff submissions state at the bottom of page 6 that the concerns of a number of parties raise fundamental issues of policy regarding cost responsibility for connection facilities, and Board Staff continued by submitting that the Board may well determine that its policy approach to cost responsibility merits a fresh look.

Those submissions were filed with the Board yesterday or the day before.

Board Staff goes on to say that this review proceeding, however, is not the appropriate forum in which to debate and to determine those policy issues that have been raised.

With respect, Hydro One disagrees totally.  In seeking a review, Hydro One is not seeking to amend the code.  In Hydro One's submission, the code is fine on that point.

Hydro One submits, however, that this proceeding, this decision, is both the place and the time to address these matters, particularly since the code need not be amended to reach a conclusion that complies with both the code and the Act and does so in a way that is transparent, predictable and fair.

Hydro One, therefore, submits that these material errors that it has pointed out on the capital contribution portion of the decision and the failure to protect the interests of consumers, have met the threshold test required for the Board to decide to conduct a review.

I don't intend to make any further submissions on these points today.  I would point out that in Hydro One's notice of motion and in Hydro One's summary of submissions - that was a document filed with the Board on November 1 - there are other grounds listed.

I did not go through all of those, but I just wanted to highlight the major areas of concern.  If there are any questions, I would be willing to answer them now, but it may be more helpful to the Board if some of the intervenors, who are pointing out the problems with the decision in particular aspects, would set out their concerns first.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on one of the elements, the question of lateness of filing, the explanation offered by you indicates that the lateness was due to requiring sufficient time to inform the board of directors.  The Board rules require someone who is filing a motion to advise the Board if it is not going to meet the deadline.

Do you have any explanation as to why that wasn't done?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, first of all, Mr. Sommerville, I would point out that the matter of informing the board of directors was only one of the reasons, one of several reasons, that Hydro One gave for not meeting the deadline.

I would agree with you that Hydro One could have, perhaps, before the deadline ran out, notified the Board that it would not be able to meet the deadline, but I would also point out that although it is not stated in the written submissions that Hydro One filed last week, Hydro One was hopeful that it would be able to meet the deadline and really did not realize until it was too late that the deadline would not be met.

Now, obviously on the very last day, Hydro One should have realized on that day, before 4:00 p.m., that it would not be able to, because the time was fast approaching, but that was not done and Hydro One regrets that that was not done.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  From reading the submissions, I am working under the assumption that ECAO is the only party who opposes the motion, other than Board Staff, is that correct, and all the rest will be proponents of Hydro One's position?

All right.  The other question I have is that CLD, Ms. Griffiths, my material doesn't have a written submission from CLD.  Is that correct?

MS. GRIFFITHS:  Yes.  We're in support of Hydro One and the EDA.

MS. NOWINA:  Do you plan on making oral submissions today?

MS. GRIFFITHS:  No.

MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you.  So in terms of order of proceeding, is there any particular order of proceeding that the parties would prefer if we go to the proponents?  Anybody want to be up first?  Mr. Moran.


MR. MORAN:  I am fine with going first.

MS. NOWINA:  There you are.  All right.

MR. MORAN:  Everybody else seems to be hiding in the back row.

MS. NOWINA:  All right.  You are up.
Submissions by Mr. Moran


MR. MORAN:  Let me start, Madam Chair, by saying that the EDA is in support of Hydro One's position that this motion should proceed to be heard on its merits, and for a number of reasons.

The primary focus of my submissions is going to be on whether the motion should proceed, but I do want to briefly touch on the issue of extending time to file the motion.

Clearly there is a rule that says that it's supposed to be file within 20 days of the decision.  That wasn't done.  I think it was 12 or 13 days late after that.  The rule also says that if you're going to miss a deadline, you are supposed to advise the Board Secretary that that is the case.  And obviously Hydro One didn't do that.  

I think today you have heard them apologize for that.  I think they recognize that is what they're supposed to do, and I really hope that given the importance of this issue to all of the other people in this room, that that's not the basis on which the Board would say, We're not going to proceed to hear this motion.  There are very important issues that are of great concern to a large number of market participants as a result of the decision, and, overall, that should be the primary focus on whether this motion should proceed.

A motion like this, Madam Chair, is one that raises the fundamental difference between a court and a regulatory tribunal.  The regulatory tribunal, like the Ontario Energy Board, is making decisions that are going to be in the broad public interest, and, clearly, because they're in the broad public interest, they will affect the broad public interest.

Every now and then, an issue comes along where, perhaps, that broader public interest isn't fully canvassed, or the Board doesn't have an opportunity to understand what that broader public interest is, for whatever reason.  And in situations like that, it's important that the Board maintains sufficient flexibility over its process to keep open the notion that in circumstances like that, that further consideration can be given to an issue if it develops along those lines.

The statutory framework for the Board's powers are clearly set out in the Ontario Energy Board Act, and also in the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, in which procedural rights and obligations are codified and applied to both the Board and to parties appearing in front of the Board.

If you look at that statute, I mean, it says right up at the front end of the SPPA that the emphasis is really on ensuring effective participation in the decision-making process.  It is an exercise in democracy, and also ensuring that there is a just outcome that serves the public interest.

A broad and liberal interpretation is to be given to the Board's procedural powers, and clearly that is certainly what the courts have said on review of Board decisions.

I have a decision -- Madam Chair, you will be familiar with this one from the NGEIR threshold process.  This is the Russell case.  I have already provided copies to Board counsel.  I am wondering if those might be handed up to you.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  Let's mark it as an exhibit, Ms. Band.

MS. BAND:  Yes.  That will be marked as Exhibit K2.
EXHIBIT NO. K2:  EXCERPT FROM COURT OF APPEAL DECISION IN RUSSELL v. SHANAHAN 52 O.R. (3d) 9

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  This is a decision of the Court of Appeal, relating to the review power that the Ontario Municipal Board has, which was subsequently extended to all tribunals through the SPPA.

I will note, just in passing, that leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada was denied, and so this is the final say, as far as Ontario is concerned, on this issue.

The first thing to note is that the power to review is one that the courts don't have, and you will see that set out in this decision at paragraph 14, a couple of pages in.  In paragraph 14, you will see a reference to an earlier decision of the divisional court which cites a passage of Reid from his textbook Administrative Law and Practice.  It says clearly there that:

"the power to reconsider decisions is peculiar to tribunals.  It is not found in the law courts.  Its existence is the consequence of a general lack of provisions for appeal, particularly on questions of fact, from tribunals, and of the regulatory nature of most tribunals.  In both respects, the tribunals differ from the courts.  The power to reconsider thus appears to be an appropriate means both for the correction of errors in the absence of an appeal, and to permit adjustments to be made as changes in the regulated activity occur.  The importance of such a power has been recognized by the courts."

So just stopping there, you will see that what the court is saying is there are two aspects to this.  One is correction of errors, and the other is adjustments to be made to the regulatory process as things continue.  That is what applies in the case that is before you.  Both of those factors are relevant to your consideration.

The next thing that the Court of Appeal says is that this is not a narrow power that you have.  You will see that set out in paragraph 15, where the court says:
"On the whole, courts have been mindful of the uniqueness of the power of review in administrative proceedings, and have been loath to interpret the power narrowly.  For example, the Divisional Court has repeatedly stressed the wide nature of such powers, and has refused to read them down."
And there are some citations to earlier decisions.

The next thing that the court says that is of interest is that the review can be based on the same evidence, and that is exactly what happened in this particular case.  If you turn to paragraph 29, which is towards the end of the decision, you will see the court indicates that:
"The Review Panel reviewed the same evidence as the First Panel."

So in that context, with exactly the same record, the review panel came to the opposite conclusion of the original panel.

So from that starting point, to take it to where we are in this process, you have a situation where a number of parties are showing up to say that in addition to what's on the record in front of you, there are a whole bunch of other things that you didn't have on the record in front of you, what the implications were of the decision that was made with respect to, for example, the arrangements between Hydro One and power generators, Hydro One and other transmitters, Hydro One and distributors.  None of which was really part of what was being reviewed by the Board in the connection procedures proceeding.

So that's the starting point.

The Board has adopted or accepted the determination by the Court of Appeal, that the Board cannot reduce the scope of its statutory authority through its procedural rules.  That is set out in the NGEIR threshold decision, at pages 11 to 14 of that decision.  I reproduced those sections in my submission on behalf of the EDA, so I won't repeat them now.

That takes me, then, to specific submissions on the two issues that are raised by the motion, and first of all, I want to say that from the perspective of distributors, these are not trivial issues.  These are extremely important issues that have important consequences, and on the basis of that, the distributors want to ensure that the issues can be properly addressed on a complete record, so that the Board is in a position to understand all of the implications and have that as the basis for guiding its decision with respect to how Section 71 ought to be interpreted, and how capital contributions ought to be dealt with.

So the two issues are, of course, the interpretation of Section 71.  What the Board indicated in its decision in the connection procedures proceeding, with respect to Section 71, has far-reaching consequences; and I am going to get into some of the details of that in a moment.

There are also very important implications for distributors that come from the Board's decision, with respect to how capital contributions are to be managed.

So, I would like you to turn to -- I am assuming you have the original decision in this process in front of you so I haven't reproduced that -- but if you could turn to the decision, page 11.  In the middle paragraph, the Board indicates as follows:
"The difference in ownership is a critical distinction.  Where the transmitter constructs and owns the assets, it is meeting its licence obligation and the net capital investment is rolled into its rate base and, in turn, is reflected in its revenue requirement.  The effect of the transmitter competing in the marketplace for the construction of customer-owned connection facilities is to raise the spectre of potential cross-subsidization of these unregulated activities by the regulated transmission revenue requirement.  Such projects fall outside the transmitter's scope, and are therefore subject to the prohibition contained in Section 71."

So here is the problem that we're facing in this.  If you take three scenarios involving the exact same piece of equipment, just for the purposes of illustration.  So take a transformer, for example.

That transformer could be constructed in three different ways.  The first way is that Hydro One would build it and own it.  The second way is that the customer would build it and Hydro One would own it.  And the third way is that Hydro One builds it and the customer owns it.  Exact same piece of equipment.  It is transmission equipment.  It's all part of the business activity of transmission.  The statute refers to business activities as opposed to transmitting and distributing electricity.  There has to be a reason for that.

So you have three scenarios that are all involved with exactly the same kind of activity, and the only distinguishing feature amongst the three scenarios is ultimately either who builds it, or who owns it.

If you go back to where the whole idea of contestability was generated, which is what scenario 2 is all about, the customer builds it and Hydro One owns it.

This was all about the desire, as I understand it from reading the Board's previous decisions on this, the desire of the Board to allow for competition for connection facilities as a way of bringing down the overall cost that ultimately will be charged, either to ratepayers or to connecting customers.  In that context, given that there is already a rule in place against cross-subsidization, the idea is that if the utility has to go head to head with other competitors, and the person with the best price and the best product and so on out of that market process will win the bid.

In that context, scenarios 2 and 3, the one where the customer builds it and Hydro One owns it, or Hydro One builds it and the customer owns it, are the opposite sides of the same coin.  It's the same kind of -- it's the same market.  It is the same competitive process.  And if there is a rule against cross-subsidization, that applies to both of those circumstances.  So if you have removed that spectre by having appropriate rules and a robust compliance program, to ensure in looking at it in rates cases and all of that, what is left is the competitiveness, which is what the Board wanted to generate in the first place.

So in the context of scenario 3, what you have is what appears to be a rather perverse result, which has the result of excluding from a competitive market one of the competitors.  And that seems -- on the face of it, at least -- contrary to the normal principles of competition you would expect to see applied.

Competition law is all about protecting competitiveness, and not about protecting some of the competitors.

In that setting, then, none of this was really addressed in that context, other than to say there is a spectre of cross-subsidization.  That's a very important issue, absolutely needs to be controlled.  And the question is:  Is it properly controlled through an interpretation of Section 71 that would seem to exclude activities that, in fact, appear to be authorized otherwise by the Act?

So, from the distributor's perspective, there needs to be a process in which that issue can be fully aired and fully determined, taking into account all of the things that need to be taken into account.

Whether that is a continuation of this motion or in a separate process, it really wasn't something that, I think, when one stands back and looks at it, that one could say, when first looking at the notice for this proceeding, that there would be an understanding that Section 71 would be the subject of interpretation, to the exclusion of a whole bunch of activities that involve a whole bunch of market players that weren't involved in connection procedures directly.

There is a huge spill-over effect.  You are going to get more details from that from other people who will make submissions here this morning.  The Board points to a bulletin that was released by the compliance office and endorses that bulletin, a bulletin which on its face says it has no legal status and is not binding in any way, which was developed without any consultation with anybody in the marketplace.

There was no notice that that was going to be up for grabs in the connection procedures review.

And that -- the substance of that bulletin is in issue in other proceedings.  It comes into play in the ARC review that is under way, and, as I say, it is an issue that is extremely important and has implications that go far beyond what Board Staff suggests is the limits of it, and these are limits I don't understand, because if you're a contractor and the fact of being a contractor excludes you under section 71, then it doesn't matter what you are a contracted for.  Whether it is for construction or maintenance or whatever, you are either excluded or you are not, given that this is an issue of statutory interpretation.

Anyway, so, in my submission, this is an issue that needs to go forward.  The Board does need to consider a wider range of principles and a wider range of implications to come up with an approach that will reflect those broader impacts.

The other thing, clearly, that wasn't taken into account in the Board's decision was the issue of economic efficiency and the ratepayer benefits that flow from these activities.  If there is no cross-subsidy and there is a revenue that offsets revenue requirement that leads to lower rates, these are things that in fact the Board is mandated to consider in the context of its decisions in any matter that is before it under the Ontario Energy Board Act.

Again, there was no opportunity really to have that kind of a discussion in front of the Board on this issue, given that it was about the connection procedures of transmitters.

The second issue, if I could get you to turn up page 26 of the decision, just after the line, "there are two elements to this issue", in the first paragraph, the Board indicates:
"First, there is an issue as to when the capital contribution could be recovered in rates.  To the electricity distributor, the capital contribution is current expense.  In the incentive rate mechanism format that the Board has adopted for the electricity distribution sector, the only opportunity for the recognition of such contributions occurs when a distributor makes a forward test year-based cost-of-service application."

Now, it's clear that the connection procedures proceeding was not a rates case, and it certainly wasn't a distribution rates case.  And so the question of whether the capital contribution that a distributor might make in relation to connection facilities that are being constructed by the transmitter is a very important issue.  

These capital contributions are very large.  In the past, they have been treated as being appropriately added to rate base as opposed to a current expense.  So now we have the potential issue of inconsistency between the Board's approach earlier, for example, in the 2006 EDR process, and what the Board is thinking in the context of this decision.

So that's an issue that obviously is of significant importance to distributors.  These capital contributions can be extremely large, and they can be managed through -- in different ways, but if they have to be treated as a current expense, there are implications that flow from that.  If they're going to be added to rate base, then there are different implications, but ultimately this is something that needs to be addressed further and is another reason why the issue should be allowed to proceed.

The second aspect that is of --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that point, are you proposing that in the course of the review on the merits of this motion, that that would be the subject matter of that?

MR. MORAN:  Well, ultimately, the motion to review is seeking some relief in relation to that issue as proposed by Hydro One.  And in that context, the distributors would have submissions to make on that issue and would be asking the Board -- I guess one of the ways it could be dealt with would be for the distributors to make the submission that to the extent there is a rates issue, you're not addressing that issue here in this decision.  So you would amend the decision to reflect that.  

But that would be an issue that would properly flow from a review process, if this proceeds past the threshold.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  The other issue that comes up, again, as I indicated, the capital contribution can be a very significant issue for an LDC, particularly if it is a smaller LDC in relation to a very large capital contribution.  So there may be occasions when a particular LDC simply does not have the ability to finance that capital contribution.

And so there needs to be some thought given to how that process would be managed, either through the creation of a mechanism for dealing with that issue as it comes up, but to simply -- just to be silent on the issue creates a problem, because the transmitter, then, is faced with not getting the financial contribution that it would otherwise require from the distributor for the facilities in question, and then clearly is not going to finance it out of its own pocket.  

Again, there needs to be some clarification around how that component of the connection procedure works.

So, in summary, I think you've got -- and you will hear more from other players who are affected by the decision, who have other perspectives and who are subject to other implications from the Board's decision, but when you get to the end of hearing all of the submissions, I think you will have before you a record that says that there are some important policy issues.  They're real, and they do require regulatory attention.  And on that basis, they have sufficient substance for the Board to take another look at those issues, to the extent that they were addressed in this decision.

To the extent that they were addressed in a particular way in this decision, in that broader context, maybe they have to be rethought.  Maybe the Board ends up in the same place, but they are very important issues and parties need to have the opportunity to bring that to the Board so that the Board has an opportunity to understand those very important consequences.

So the distributors are essentially saying to the Board, Please allow this issue to go ahead.  We think there is a basis for this to go ahead on its merits, and that is what we would ask that you do.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Moran.

Can anyone volunteer to make a short submission that would get us to a break around 11 o'clock?  Is that within anyone's time frame?  Mr. Rattray, I see your finger on the button.

MR. RATTRAY:  Yes, thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.
Submissions by Mr. Rattray


MR. RATTRAY:  We will endeavour to meet the deadline.  We're here today to speak in support of Hydro One's motion for a review.  We adopt and rely on the submissions of Hydro One and the comments of Mr. Moran this morning.

I will endeavour to be brief.  With respect to the extension of the deadline for filing, as Mr. Engelberg noted, it was 12 days.

In our submission, given the facts recited by Mr. Engelberg about the need to consult with their board of directors, assess the implications of it and obtain instructions, it would be prudent and appropriate, and it is clearly within the Board's jurisdiction, to grant the requested extension.

This is expressly contemplated by the Rules, and I know we often refer to them, but I would like to go back to the first two rules, rule 1.03, which expressly recognizes that:
"The Board may dispense with, amend, vary or supplement all or part of any rule at any time, if it is satisfied that the circumstances of the proceedings so require or it is in the public interest to do so."

Now, my next-favourite rule, if I can call it that, is Rule 2.01.  It reminds us that we are here not to argue solely about procedure, but, rather, to address the public interest and do this by approaching a proceeding in the most just, expeditious and efficient manner to determine the merits.

Now, this morning you've clearly got a large number of parties here, parties who are concerned about the practical consequences of the decision that was made.

I submit that for the sake of 12 days, and given the facts laid out by Mr. Engelberg, it is entirely appropriate to grant the requested extension to allow the motion to proceed.

The practical consequence of not allowing a request such as this, in these circumstances, would be to encourage people to simply file a motion for the purpose of preserving their right, pending the opportunity to obtain instructions from their client.

Turning now to the issue of the stay.  We adopt, again, Hydro One's submissions on this point, and we also refer you to the written submissions of the two main generators in Ontario.

You will hear from them in due course, but Ontario Power Generation and Bruce Power, in their written submissions, have made it clear that the practical implications of the decision will have a significant, adverse impact on their operations.

Now, I am here today in my capacity as counsel for the IESO.  We are, as you know, the independent system operator.  We're not focussed as much perhaps on the issue of policy, but on the pragmatic consequences of the decisions that have been made.  We are concerned about the reliability of the Ontario grid, both in our capacity as the system operator and Ontario's reliability standards authority.

We submit that, on the evidence that you have received through written submissions -- and you will hear the submissions of these other parties, in particular OPG and Bruce Power -- there is a clear potential for irreparable harm.  The balance of convenience favours granting the requested stay.  And when we consider the fourth consideration that the Board added to the three-pronged test of RJR-MacDonald, which is the impact on consumers, I submit we need go no further than considering, really, the Board's objectives as laid out in the Ontario Energy Board Act, at Section 1:
"The Board, in carrying out its responsibilities, shall be guided by the following objectives: 
To protect the interests of consumers with respect to prices --" and, in my submission, more significantly today -- "the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service."

Now, again in our capacity as the system operator, we're very concerned about the comments that have been made by OPG and Bruce Power about the implications of the decision on their ability to operate their system, their generators, and deliver their energy into the IESO-controlled grid.

Now, the public interest considerations not only involve the Ontario grid, but also our interconnected neighbours.  From our perspective, we need to allow for the scheduling and timely completion of necessary work to build and maintain transmission connections, and in relation to the other services that Mr. Engelberg described this morning.

Now, to the extent that there is any change in approach or interpretation which has a significant impact on the actual operation of the transmission system and the connected generators, we need to be mindful of the need to allow for the orderly implementation of such decisions.

The present decision, with due respect, does not provide for that, and as such, a stay is required.

Turning now to the threshold question and in relation to Section 3.3 of the decision dealing with the connection procedures.  Mr. Engelberg has reviewed with you this morning, in some detail, the limitations of the evidentiary record before the Panel.  I do note that neither the notice of application nor any of the procedural orders in relation to the proceeding identified the interpretation of Section 71(1) as an issue.

Intervenors were caught unaware, and in this regard, the substantive position of Board Staff and the Electrical Contractors Association of Ontario was only made known on January 26th, 2007, the last day for submissions; and I 
note that no extension of time was given for further submissions on that issue, where the Board recognized it was necessary to do so in relation to costs.

I also note that the ECAO filed their submissions, which included affidavits in support of their position on the last day for filing, being January 26th, notwithstanding the fact that the affidavits themselves were sworn some six weeks earlier.

Now, the practical effect of this -- we can't complain about our friends doing that.  They complied with the Board's order.  But it meant that they were filing evidence that would not be subjected to IRs, would not be the subject of questioning, and there would be no opportunity to file evidence in response.

Now, our written submissions detail our concerns, which Mr. Engelberg has described to you this morning, with respect to making ownership the critical distinction.  This discussion is at page 11 of the decision.  We adopt the submissions of Mr. Engelberg, and we submit that the definition is in error because it is inconsistent with the interpretation and definition under Section 56 of the OEB Act.

In Section 56 of the OEB Act, "transmit" with respect to electricity, means to convey electricity at voltages of more than fifty kilovolts.

The significance of that definition, in our view, is that the focus is not on the ownership of the assets, but rather the operation of the integrated transmission system.

The decision introduced what amounted to a significant change in the interpretation of Section 71 and, as I have explained this morning, will have a significant, adverse impact on consumer interests with respect to adequacy, reliability and the quality of electrical service.

We submit that the threshold for undertaking a review has been met.

Turning now to Section 3.5 of the decision and cost responsibility.  Again, we support Hydro One.  In our submission, a review is required to, once again, protect consumer interests.  


Uncertainty with respect to customer responsibility for costs will have an unintended consequence.  This has been detailed by Hydro One.  Again, in our capacity as the system operator, our concern is that the method that is used to determine cost responsibility must not impede the efficient and timely study, planning, approval and implementation of transmission projects, which are required for system reliability.  To do otherwise would be to fail to satisfy the legislative objectives that are set out for us.

Those are our submissions, and we will be on schedule for the break.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Rattray, I do have one question about your discussion on the stay.  The decision in question could be characterized as an interpretation of the Transmission System Code.  So, if there was stay to that decision, I assume that it would be a stay to that interpretation.  If that interpretation is no longer in play, what interpretation do transmitters fall back on during the period of the stay?

MR. RATTRAY:  I would answer that we need to carry on with the status quo that was established some years ago, and, in particular, with RP-1999-0044, it established a scheme that has governed the manner in which transmitters have governed themselves, in particular Hydro One, and that's also the scheme under which you have market participants, such as Bruce Power and OPG, having reasonable expectations as to the services that they were able to contract for from Hydro One.


I would submit that if you were to grant the stay in the manner contemplated by Hydro One's motion, it would enable us to carry on as we were prior to the decision being rendered pending the completion of the review.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you think that other transmitters were interpreting the code in the same way?


MR. RATTRAY:  Well, I will come back to -- I cannot speak for the other transmitters, but I will note, from a practical perspective, because as the Board observed in its procedural order for this appearance today, you wanted to hear from us on the practical consequences of the stay.


We're in the business of keeping the lights on, and we want to ensure that we have the ability to do that.


Hydro One is, by far, as we all know, the dominant transmitter in Ontario.  I believe their submissions indicated - and Mr. Engelberg could interject to correct if I get it wrong - approximately 97 percent of the bulk transmission system in Ontario is owned and operated by Hydro One.


So, again, if we're focussed on the practical consequences of it, let's be mindful that it is Hydro One that we're really concerned with.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just on the point you made, Mr. Rattray, on the origin of this and how long this interpretation has been in play, to the point as to what position would we fall back on, what would be in play if a stay was granted.


In an interpretive of 71 and who is doing what, is it your understanding that since '99, the year you referenced, there have been some corporate changes within Hydro One as to who was providing the work?  Maybe I could springboard off your point to question HONI as to who was providing the service.


Was there not -- has there been a change in the corporate structure, and was there a service entity before that would have been providing some of these services that are in question here today?


MR. RATTRAY:  I will allow Mr. Engelberg to respond to that, but clearly, I mean, there have been changes in the industry and the sector since 1999.  But, rather, it is the fact that that decision acknowledged the concern with the practical.  I think before anyone would implement a significant change in interpretation that has practical consequences for how we can maintain and operate our system, you need a full evidentiary record and review on that issue and not by oblique reference through one or two IRs and submissions being filed on the last day, without the opportunity to file and file appropriate materials.


If it is an issue, let's deal with it head on and have an appropriate record before us.  It is not for the IESO to say what the ultimate outcome should be.


Our concern is, whatever the decision is, it has to be workable from the perspective of achieving the objectives of satisfying the Act, which is to protect the interests of consumers for reliability, adequacy of electricity service.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Engelberg, could you respond to the corporate services question.

Further submissions by Mr. Engelberg


MR. ENGELBERG:  I would like to respond to the issue raised first by the Chair.


In my submission, what Hydro One would be asking for is not a stay of the interpretation of section 71 of the Act that was made in the decision.


What Hydro One would be asking for would be a stay of the decision insofar as the decision prohibits Hydro One from performing activities that Hydro One is already performing for third parties.


In other words, it would be with respect to activities, rather than with respect to an interpretation.  So that those activities could continue, all of the activities of the particular nature.  


The decision could even state, for example, that activities of a different nature could not be undertaken in the meantime that Hydro One -- the kinds of activities that Hydro One was not already performing.


So it would really be an activity-based stay, rather than an interpretation-based stay, trying to keep it on a practical level.


MS. NOWINA:  That's helpful.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What I was asking, it was just in reference to Mr. Rattray's comment of how long the arrangements have been in place and these activities have been performed and characterizing that as the status quo.  


I just want to ask whether or not that status quo has been constant since 1991, or have there been changes as to who delivered the services that we're talking about, performed these activities.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Since '91 or 2000?


MR. QUESNELLE:  '99.  Sorry, I misspoke.


MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding is that most of the activities were provided by Hydro One Networks Inc.  Some of the other activities were provided for a short period of time by an affiliate, but, again, it was a regulated affiliate, subject to the requirements of section 71 of the Act.  That was called Hydro One Networks Services Inc.  But the same issues would be created, in the sense that it is another regulated affiliate, subject to all of the rules that Hydro One Networks Inc. is subject to.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Could I ask, Madam Chair, another related question, and this goes back to status again, as to what conditions are that you consider to be the status quo.  I pose the question to both yourself and Mr. Moran.  


You both referenced a compliance bulletin that had been issued, 2006-05, I believe it is, and both made comments that that does not have the effect of law and it is not binding.  What is your thought -- what would you consider the Board's appropriate view of that compliance bulletin, how it would consider it in relation to the status quo, as to whether or not it would consider what is expected in that compliance bulletin to be the status quo, or not?


MR. ENGELBERG:  It's a very good question and it is very difficult to answer, because we see that even in the Board's Staff's submission that was filed for this hearing, there seems to be an issue as to whether that compliance bulletin is to be used -- first of all, what it means, and, secondly, whether it is to be used to prohibit certain activities, but not to be used to prohibit other activities.


For example, it's being used in this particular proceeding and in Board Staff submissions to say that Hydro One and other transmitters cannot do the work on the connection, the line connection facilities of transmission customers.  But somehow, even with it being presented in this hearing, it's not being used to prohibit the performance of any of the other services.


So I would say that the only way that the Board can consider what the status quo is is to look at the activities that are being performed by the various transmitters and the other LDCs, rather than conflicting documents that may be in play that are being viewed, even today, as allowing some things, but not others.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Moran?

Further submissions by Mr. Moran


MR. MORAN:  I want to start by reiterating that, first of all, the compliance bulletin on its face says that whatever is in the bulletin is the opinion of the compliance office and not necessarily the Board's opinion.


Clearly, that's a bulletin that was released not in any public proceeding where people had any opportunity to make any kind of submission on how section 71 ought to be interpreted or applied.  So it's sitting there.


The other thing I would like to say is that the issue of the scope of section 71 and what it means has been in limbo from almost 1999.  The Board, I think -- I can't remember the exact time, but around 1999/2000, the Board had a draft guideline on what section 71 meant.  And at that point there was, I think, some intention to gear up a process, and then it just sort of got dropped and nothing else happened on that issue until the compliance bulletin came along.


Clearly, I mean, it is an important issue.  It goes right to the heart of what utilities can or can't do and how they have to carry out that.  But there has never actually been a real process by the Board to examine what is an appropriate approach to be taken to interpreting Section 71.

We know that if the matter ever goes to court, I mean, the court is going to take a look at it -- they're going to take a purposive approach.  They are going to look at the whole statute.  They're going to figure out from the scheme of the statute, you know, what does this really mean if you look at the whole intent of the statute.  But the starting point has to be something in front of the Board, and there needs to be a process by the Board to have a proper discussion about the scope of that provision and what it really means.

So, in the meantime, I mean I guess there is a whole bunch of arrangements that people have just entered into.  I expect, and would be surprised if the case were otherwise, that as people entered into those arrangements they got all kinds of legal advice, economic advice and so on when they structured their -- when they went and structured their affairs.

So before people are told to completely restructure what they have been doing since 2000, then, you know, there needs to be a forum in which those issues can be properly discussed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So if I can paraphrase back to you, just to ensure that I understand, is it fair to suggest that, in your view, the Board should not consider that compliance bulletin as being the status quo, or the expectations put out in that compliance bulletin as being the starting point?

MR. MORAN:  Absolutely.  The compliance bulletin is a person's opinion.  I don't mean any disrespect to Mr. Hughson or anyone in that office, but in the bulletin itself, it is very, very clear that he is not purporting to enact any kind of rule, and he's not purporting to say: if you don't follow this rule, then I am going to fine you.

I mean, if there is a case to be made based on specific circumstances, there are tools that the Board has to deal with those.  The Board has not exercised any of those tools in the context of what utilities are doing, in relation to how they interpret Section 71.

I think the practical reason for that is just there has never really been a full examination.

I mean, the Board has been in the process of going from zero in 1999, to elaborating a regulatory scheme that covers a multitude of issues.  This is one of them that hasn't been addressed yet.  It presumably will be.  And certainly in the context of this decision, it's clear that the Board has said something about that section, and we're not sure that the Board had the kind of record that it really needed in order to have a fully purposive approach to how to interpret Section 71 and how that ought to be applied.

MR. RATTRAY:  If I may add, Mr. Quesnelle, that it also is clear, on the face of it, that Mr. Hughson limited his views to the interpretation of 71(1) in relation to distribution activities.  In no way was he suggesting that he was turning his mind to the question of transmission.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I understood that point wasn't raised by either EDA or HONI in referencing to it, and how the decision references it.  That is a point that is of interest, though. I thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I would like to add that Hydro One's view is that a compliance bulletin is really a compliance tool used by the chief compliance officer to govern his own actions and to provide market participants and other utilities with some guidance as to how he would view certain matters of enforcement and such.  But that ultimately, even the chief compliance officer, as well as all of the parties, would agree that the ultimate decision will be made by the Board.

So it is something that, in our submission, is part of the lay of the land, but it is by no means more than a small piece of the puzzle of what the status quo is to date.

Transmitters and LDCs around the province are doing these activities well within the knowledge of each other and the Board itself.  The activities are even seen in rate hearings and other kinds of proceedings.

So there is no subterfuge, and it is clear that all of these activities are being conducted in good faith by parties who have always believed that they are in compliance within Section 71.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A question for Mr. Rattray.  


I heard you to say that your concern is the system operator, focussed to considerable extent on the impact, as you saw it, of a change in circumstances occasioned by the decision as it affected Bruce Power and OPG.  Is that correct?

MR. RATTRAY:  In particular, they've stepped forward and laid out their concerns in submissions to you, and I am sure you will hear from them in due course.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Talking about your interest, what specific elements of their operations were you concerned about when you read their materials?  What aspects of activities being performed by Hydro One caught your attention the most?

MR. RATTRAY:  Well, and these are the views of a lawyer - I will put that cautionary note in - rather than system engineer, but our concern is with their ability to generate and deliver energy to the IESO-controlled grid in a timely, efficient manner.

Now, that is dependent upon parties being able to have necessary maintenance work done in a timely manner, in accordance with outage schedules, so that we can manage the supply and demands on the system in an appropriate manner.

In relation to that, every day there are forced outages of equipment that we respond to, to the extent that we have fewer resources that we can call on, as a result of the identified concerns of OPG and Bruce Power about their ability to get necessary work done in a timely manner, work done in particular at nuclear facilities, with the requisite concerns about getting access and security.  As well, it goes beyond just that, to include concerns about meeting, protection and control, relays.

So, fundamentally, when we have the two largest generators publicly stating on the record that this is causing them significant concern about their ability to do what they need to do, and to comply with the rules and reliability standards, we're going to stand up and express our concern as the system operator, because that is not the way we run the system.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What about construction services?

MR. RATTRAY:  Again, one of the issues that the IESO has clearly stated in such reports as the Ontario Reliability Outlook and other market documents, we're concerned about delays in projects as a result of regulatory approvals, equipment delays.  To the extent that construction is adversely impacted and there are delays in projects coming online, that will have to be factored into our plans for the 18-month outlook.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But is that related to construction services conducted by Hydro One?

MR. RATTRAY:  Based on the evidence and submissions of OPG and Bruce Power and the comments of the EDA, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. RATTRAY:  They play a major role.  To the extent that our market participants are identifying that it is impacting on their ability to do what they want to do in a timely, efficient manner, from our position as the system operator, we're quite concerned.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  We will take our morning break now and return at 11:30.

--- Recess taken at 11:12 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:34 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Did any matters come up during the break?  None?  


MS. BAND:  Madam Chair, if I may.  


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MS. BAND:  You will note that we dropped on the dais in front of each of you a copy of the Board's Rules of Practice and Procedure at the request of one of parties who will be making reference to those.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Ms. Band.  

In resuming, who would like to go next?


MR. CASS:  I think I may be next, if that suits the Board.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass.

Submissions by Mr. Cass


MR. CASS:  As the Board would be aware from the written submissions, Ontario Power Generation is participating today to support the review motion in respect of section 3.3 of the connection procedures decision.  OPG takes no position on the review motion in relation to section 3.5 of the decision.


The Board would also have seen, from OPG's written submission, that the primary purpose of being here today is to emphasize the importance of services that are provided by Hydro One to OPG.  I won't repeat what is in the written submission.  I think there is a considerable amount of detail there to help the Board understand both the nature of the services and the importance of them.  For today's purposes, if I may, what I might do is just take what I think are some of the key points from OPG's submissions about the nature and importance of the services provided by Hydro One.


First, Hydro One performs a number of specialty services for OPG that are not readily available from other parties.  


Second, these include services for which Hydro One's personnel have specialized training and knowledge.  The written submission uses the example of the nuclear generating facilities and the particular specialty services that Hydro One is able to provide in that area, because of the training and knowledge and ability to meet the standards of the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission.


Third, as indicated in the written submission, as far as this range of services provided by Hydro One is concerned, there either are no local contractors who can do all of the work, or there is only a very limited amount of work that can be carried out by a limited number of local contractors.


The reason it is stated in that fashion is the position varies depending on which particular generating station one is looking at.  Again, as emphasized in the written submission, the position is a particularly important one in relation to the nuclear generating stations.


Then the fourth point that I hope the Board would take from the written submission is that Hydro One's services are required to maintain the uninterrupted reliability of OPG's facilities.  More particularly, OPG's ability to provide reliable power to the grid would be severely threatened if the services described in the written submission were no longer available from Hydro One.


Now, others have already referred to the statutory objectives, so I won't say as much about them as I had intended to do.


However, given the concerns and these very real concerns about reliability, I do wish to emphasize that it's important to ensure that the statutory objectives that are to guide the Board in relation to electricity are ultimately fulfilled at the end of the day, whatever happens with this review motion.


Of course, as others have said, one of those statutory objectives is to protect the interests of consumers with respect to the adequacy, reliability and quality of electricity service.


Others have already addressed the issue of ownership of assets that emerges from the decision in section 3.3.  I was going to take the Board to the specific words, but I think that's already been done at least once and I won't repeat what others have said.


In my submission, the effect of the words in section 3.3 of the decision is to establish ownership of assets as a critical distinction in determining the scope of the restriction on a transmitter's business activities under section 71.  In fact, the words "critical distinction" are those that were used in section 3.3 of the decision.


The difficulty presented by this emphasis on ownership as a critical factor under section 71 is something I will come to in a little more detail later.  However, OPG submits that the review should be allowed to re-examine this proposition that ownership is a critical distinction.  


Beyond that, as already has been pointed out, there is a broad proposition in the decision that apparently flows from that distinction.  The proposition, as stated in the decision, is that section 71 of the Act prohibits Hydro One from acting as a contractor on behalf of the customer in relation to customer-owned facilities.  That also, in the view of OPG, is a problematic aspect of the decision.


In other words, the review would be concerned, first, with the ownership having been established as such a critical distinction under section 71, and then, second, with the proposition that section 71 prohibits Hydro One from acting as a contractor in relation to customer-owned facilities.


In its written submission, as an example, OPG points out that it has equipment that is actually located within switch yards owned by Hydro One.  This equipment is identical to equipment in the same switch yards that is Hydro One's equipment.  Because Hydro One has the identical equipment in the same yards, its employees have all of the required procedures, training, tools and spare parts to maintain OPG's equipment.


This is just an example that I put forward to suggest that simply using ownership as a critical distinction for the purposes of section 71 does not take into account circumstances and factors that run much more deeply than the mere question of who owns the assets that are actually being worked on.


OPG's submission, therefore, is that the matter should be reopened so that the Board can reconsider the determination that was made in respect of section 71.  In such a reopening, I suggest there would be an opportunity for a full examination of all factors that would properly bear on the scope of section 71.  There would be an opportunity, to the extent that parties wish to do so, for the presentation of full evidence on all of the factors, and there would be an opportunity for testing of the evidence relating to all factors that would bear on the scope of section 71.


Sitting here today, I would not pretend to prejudge all of the factors that might be considered, should the Board allow the motion beyond the threshold issue.  However, I would suggest to the Board that aside from ownership, there are many other things that could be considered.  These might include, for example, the physical location of customer-owned assets in relation to Hydro One's assets.  I think the factors would clearly include the nature of the services that are being performed by Hydro One in respect of the customer-owned assets.


Another factor could be the extent to which there is what I would loosely call linkage or communication between the customer-owned assets and Hydro One's assets.


Another factor could be the extent to which the customer-owned assets actually are integral to the transmission system.  

Another factor could be the extent to which there is a public-interest benefit to the transmitter working on customer-owned assets, because of the fact that the transmitter does work on identical assets of its own.

Anyway, those are just some examples.  I'm sure the list, if one were to try to make it complete, would be a very lengthy one.  The point is simply that I don't deny that ownership is a factor.  In my submission, though, there are many factors that should be considered, and I urge the Board to allow the motion to proceed past the threshold issue, so that a full consideration of all of those factors can occur.

Now, to turn to the issue of the stay, I don't have a lot that I feel needs to be added to what parties have said already.  I think the most important thing for me, today, is to indicate that I can't emphasize too strongly OPG's concern that whatever decision of the Board comes out of this proceeding, it not leave OPG in the position where the reliability of its supply of electricity to the grid is threatened because of the unavailability of services from Hydro One.

For this reason, OPG submits that it is extremely important that the implementation and effects of Section 3.3 of the connection procedures decision be stayed while the review, if allowed, of the decision proceeds.

Even more broadly than that, however, whatever the outcome of the threshold issue or of the review motion itself, OPG submits that the Board should ensure that parties like OPG are not left without crucial services that they need from Hydro One.

I think Mr. Rattray used the words to the effect that there should be allowance for an orderly development, following whatever decision the Board may ultimately reach.

Now, the final area that I wish to touch on in these submissions was the proposition put forward in Board Staff's written submission and touched on by other parties, that Section 3.3 of the decision is very narrowly limited to certain construction activities.

First, as I have already tried to emphasize, the difficulty that I see with this is that the decision establishes ownership as a critical distinction in the determination of the scope of Section 71.

I stand to be corrected if I'm wrong, but there is nothing that I have been able to see in the decision that would provide a basis for arguing that, while ownership is a critical distinction for some category of construction services, it is not such a critical distinction for other services.

I don't see the rationalization for that in the decision.  Indeed, if anything, it seems to me that perhaps a contrary conclusion would follow.  In my submission, if ownership is such a critical distinction for yet-to-be-constructed facilities, how can it not be an equally critical distinction for services in relation to facilities that already exist?

In any event - and again, I know I am repeating others when I say this, so I will be very brief - but the broad conclusion reached in Section 3.3 about the ability of Hydro One to act as a contractor in relation to customer-owned facilities does, on its face, seem to go beyond the narrow interpretation that Board Staff seeks to give to the decision.

Those, Madam Chair, were the points that I wished to emphasize on behalf of OPG.  Again, I can't overemphasize the concern that there be some relief to ensure that these important services from Hydro One continue to be available to OPG.  Beyond that, I'm sure the Board will have some questions, and I am happy to do my best to respond to them.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  I have a question.

If you were, for a moment, to put aside your argument in this regard and accept the Board Staff's position that the intent of the decision was indeed the narrow interpretation, would OPG have any concerns about that?

MR. CASS:  Yes, if I could answer that Madam Chair in two parts.  First, perhaps, the practical part, and then second would be the broader implications.

On the practical side of it, I have to say that the written submission that OPG filed addresses the types of work that are of immediate concern to OPG.  The Board will have seen that these do not tend to be the type of construction activities that would be encompassed by the narrow definition.

So yes, in OPG's particular circumstances right now, the immediate or imminent concerns are not those that relate to those narrow -- that narrow type of construction activities.  It's just a function of OPG's circumstances at this point in time.

As a result of that, in relation to that, that narrow subset of construction activities, I don't think I could be making the submission to you that OPG has such an immediate concern that it goes to the reliability issue that I have addressed.

So that's the first part of the answer, or the practical implication.

The second part of the answer, Madam Chair, again, is that with this critical distinction around ownership of assets, certainly speaking for myself, it's very difficult for me to see how that can be put on a basis that limits it only to that one set of activities, and does not have implications for the other types of activities that are so critical to OPG.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just to follow up on that, Mr. Cass, the company that you represent was a party to the proceeding.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And would have reviewed the connection procedures application made by Hydro One.  And that appeared in their materials at Section 2.6 of the connection procedures, which really forms the basis of the critical mass of the subject matter.

I'm going to suggest to you that in that material, the ownership of assets seemed to be a fairly critical distinction that Hydro One makes in its connection procedures.  Would you agree with that?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Sommerville, I'm not in a position to disagree with you.  Yes, I would have to agree.  What I would have to say is that whatever the reasons for it -- and you have heard submissions from other parties about the manner in which the case developed and the issues came forward -- but whatever the reasons for it, certainly it would not have been OPG's understanding, certainly it would not have been my understanding if I had been involved at the time, that the outcome of this would be a decision on the scope of Section 71, such as that which is now of concern to us.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With respect to a broad range of subject matters?

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What was your client's understanding as to what was at issue in the connection procedures application made by Hydro One?  What did you think was in play?

MR. CASS:  I'm not sure that I can answer that sitting here right now, Mr. Sommerville.  I'm sorry.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess, would it be fair to say that it would be the terms of the connection procedure proposed by the company?  Would that have been the concern of your company, or the company you represent?

MR. CASS:  If I might just have a moment, Mr. Sommerville.  Thank you.  


I hope this is responsive, Mr. Sommerville.  I think the answer would be, to the extent that there was an appreciation of the type of issue that you're describing, it would be in relation to new connections.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

Who would like to go next?

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mathias. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Could you turn your microphone on, Mr. Mathias?
Submissions by Mr. Mathias


MR. MATHIAS:  Bruce Power has filed a summary of submissions, and I don't propose to go through them in detail, but I will highlight some of the points raised in that.

To begin with, say that Bruce Power adopts the submissions of Hydro One and my other friends who have gone before me with respect to section 3.3 of the decision, and that's with respect to the motion to review the timeliness of the filing of the motion and with respect to the stay.  I won't say anything more on the timeliness of the filing of the motion, but I will come back to the stay to address some of the questions I have heard the Board ask of my friends.

Suffice it to say, as you will have seen from our materials, that the services that Bruce Power has contracted with Hydro One for are of absolute critical importance to the ongoing operations of Bruce Power and its ability to transmit the power generated from those stations into the grid.

The services can be described in three interdependent areas.  You heard my friends speak of them already.  There is the protection and control of the equipment, which is the monitoring and testing and maintenance of that equipment.  And, in Ontario, Hydro One is currently the sole provider of this highly technical service, and it has a comprehensive inventory of parts which, of critical importance to Bruce Power, includes parts that are no longer in production.

It is simply not possible for Hydro One to replace -- for Bruce Power to replace Hydro One's services at this time, as there is no one else who has such a comprehensive knowledge of the grid and how these pieces of equipment connect.

The second is with respect to maintenance and emergency services, and, again, Hydro One's knowledge and experience is critical.

The third is with respect to metering services.  While there are other vendors, as we've set out in our submissions, in Bruce Power's view there is no one who is currently sufficiently equipped or proximate enough in order to provide these services.  

So that is the importance to Bruce Power of Hydro One.

What has become of concern for Bruce Power is that Hydro One has raised a concern about its ability to do this work and to bid on future ongoing work.

As you know, Bruce Power was not a party or intervenor to the two proceedings which resulted in the connection procedures decision.  We were aware of what was happening, but certainly did not anticipate that the decision might conclude that Hydro One, as a contractor, would not be able to provide services to Bruce Power in relation to equipment owned by Bruce Power, and that is really what is of critical importance for Bruce Power.

We cannot pretend to understand the nuances of that proceeding.  We have not had the time, nor did we expend the resources to review all of the issues that were set out in this proceeding, review all of the evidence.  We weren't a party and we have not done that since.  

But what is a concern to us is that what appears to be, from a plain reading of the decision, an effect of that decision, that effect has detrimental, dire consequences for Bruce Power and, we would submit, for the Ontario public, as well.  And I think, as Mr. Rattray said, it goes beyond the IESO-controlled grid.

So with that, our urging of this Board would be to grant the relief sought by Hydro One and have -- the grant of relief sought on the motion to review, and have this decision reviewed.  

With respect to the stay, the concern is any prohibition on the activities, and I think in response to some questions that were asked of Mr. Engelberg, he characterized his request as a stay with respect to the activities.  And that's what's important to Bruce Power for its ongoing operations, is that the activities which Hydro One is carrying out for it currently must be able to proceed so that those operations are not affected.

So with that, subject to any questions you have, those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mathias.  Your submissions almost say this, or indirectly say it but let me ask you the same question that I asked of Mr. Cass.

If one were to interpret the decision as being narrowly confined to the construction of connection facilities, would you have any concerns?

MR. MATHIAS:  I am going to adopt almost exactly the same answer that Mr. Cass has given to the Board, but I will say this, because I did call my client over the break to ask this question specifically, and that is, what -- in terms of the bidding for maintenance work for next year, in terms of some of the other work that we've spoken to in a way that talks of immediacy, like Mr. Cass spoke of, what is involved vis-à-vis construction.


I don't think that certainly the person I spoke to at Bruce Power has a clear answer for you.  So it is really:  What does construction mean?  If it is to install something new to put something in place, if construction is that broadly defined, then it is of significant concern, even immediately, for Bruce Power.

If it's just that somebody else is actually building it, Bruce Power itself is not actually building it, and installation and connection is not part of a definition of construction, then maybe less so.

So I think that is a question that really requires a factual enquiry, in our submission.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mathias.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that, as I understand it, Mr. Mathias, Hydro One in mid-September 2007 advised you that it could not bid on maintenance work; is that right?

MR. MATHIAS:  That was --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's in your submission.

MR. MATHIAS:  Yes, it is.  And over the break I was actually - it is an omission that I should have brought to the Board's attention - I did actually speak to counsel, who advised me that in fact they may have gone back and said that they could bid on it.  So I am not sure exactly what the state of affairs of that is.

But as of the writing of this submission, that was the information we had from Bruce Power, but they are checking into it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it Hydro One Networks that was actually bidding on that work or has been conducting that work for your company?

MR. MATHIAS:  That I wouldn't have an answer for you, Mr. Sommerville.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Engelberg, could you help?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it is Hydro One Networks Inc.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Has it always been that since -- I understood a previous answer that you made to be that there was a change in your practice at some point, that there was another company involved in providing those services.

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding is that for a limited period of time, some, but not all, of the activities in question were carried on by an affiliate called Hydro One Networks Services Inc.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  During what time frame would your recollection lead you to believe that was happening?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think it was in the early period of time after the year 2000, and that it probably ceased at least four years ago.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Hydro One Networks Services Inc. no longer carries on business.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Mathias, I want to be fair.  I put the same question to Mr. Cass.  Just in terms of your knowledge and review of the connection procedures that were filed by Hydro One, did you review those to see where the activities that your company is concerned about, where they might fit into those connection procedures?  Did you review those?

MR. MATHIAS:  I can say fairly we didn't, because we were not involved.  So that review would start now.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Stephenson.
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have provided to the parties in the room and to Board Staff a copy of a small brief.  I wonder if you might be provided with copies of that.  I intend to refer to that during my submissions this morning.

MS. BAND:  Yes.  We can mark that as Exhibit K3.

MS. NOWINA:  We will do that, just for ease of reference.
EXHIBIT NO. K3:  BRIEF OF MATERIALS SUBMITTED BY POWER WORKERS' UNION.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

The first document is just the written submissions which were filed with the Board previously, and I will take you to the tabs that are below it in due course.

The first point, just to identify my client's interest in this matter, my client represents the employees of Hydro One -- at least some of the employees of Hydro One -- that do the work that the decision has the effect of precluding Hydro One from doing.  So it limits the work available to those employees to do.

Secondly, my client was a participant in the underlying proceeding.  We were an intervenor in that proceeding.  We filed submissions in that proceeding.

Those submissions did not address the Section 71 issue, for reasons that will become abundantly clear as I make my submissions here.

Just before proceeding, I just wanted to address an issue which was, I believe, raised by the Chair this morning, which was whether -- I think the question was asked of my friend Mr. Rattray, which was does he have any information regarding the other transmitters' understanding of where the line -- whether the other transmitters have the same understanding as Hydro One regarding what work was permitted and not permitted by virtue of Section 71, in the sense of what is the status quo.

I don't have any direct information with respect to the answer to that, but I do have certain indirect information, which, in my view, will tell you a little bit about at least what one of the other transmitters' view of the matter is, and that is Great Lakes Power.  Because I am presently involved in another proceeding where this very same issue that is raised here has arisen.

What I can tell you is this:  Great Lakes Power has filed an application with the Board pursuant to the mergers and a MAAD application, whatever that acronym means.

MS. NOWINA:  Mergers and acquisitions.

MR. STEPHENSON:  There is another one.  There are two "As".

MR. STEPHENSON:  Amalgamation and --

MR. STEPHENSON:  Divestitures.

MS. NOWINA:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The comings and the goings.  The buyings and the sellings.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The substance of that application is that GLPL is undergoing a corporate restructuring.  Presently GLPL is an integrated utility which undertakes generation, transmission and distribution all within one entity.  They would be precluded from doing that by virtue of Section 71, except for the fact that they are exempted from Section 71.  However, that exemption comes to an end at the end of 2008, so they have commenced the process of trying to put themselves into compliance, and the first step of that process is to spin out from GLPL the transmission assets formerly owned by GLPL, and they propose to spin them out into another company.

However, they are not spinning out the employees or the management personnel or any of the other functionality that actually operates the transmission system.  The transmission system will continue to be operated by GLPL under a contract for services with the new entity.  GLPL, it is proposed, will continue to be a licensed transmitter, as will the owner of the assets.

The effect of the transaction will be that GLPL will be performing transmission services on assets not owned by it, putting it directly into contravention of this decision.

Their application was filed before this decision.  The decision has come out subsequent.  In my submission, if you're looking for what the other transmitters understood  -- at least in the case of GLPL -- in my submission, it's pretty clear that they didn't understand that this bright line of ownership was the line, or else they would never have filed an application which is so obviously offside.

So there's some evidence that you have about what other transmitters understand to be the status quo prior to this decision.

I have two submissions to make.  My first submission is that the process by which this proceeding took place raises a serious natural-justice concern, from our perspective.

In my submission, that ground is a sufficient basis to get over the threshold for a full review.  By definition, if there was a natural justice failure, the decision was made without jurisdiction and is void.

There couldn't be a more fundamental problem, in terms of –- or a more fundamental justification for a review of that.  And, in my submission, the Board can and should go back and fix it up.

My second submission is -- and frankly, if you accept my first submission I don't actually need to get to this, but my first submission is, in any event, there is good reason to doubt the correctness of the decision.

Let me deal with the natural-justice issue first.  The natural-justice issue goes to notice, and it is:  Were the parties provided with reasonable notice that the Section 71 issue was in play?  In my respectful submission, the answer to that question is "no".

Let me just review a couple of facts with you, and these are set out at page 3 of my written submissions, but if you go back and look at the original notice of application in this matter, that is the underlying decision, and in my submission, you cannot -- there is nothing in that notice of application that would give a reasonable reader fair notice that this issue was up for decision in the case.

That explains, in my submission, why Bruce Power is here today, but not here before.  In my submission, they are an example of someone, or a reasonable reader who was not alive to the risk that this issue was up for decision in the case.

The second point is that the case proceeded as a written hearing.  There was no oral hearing in this case, and as a result of that, I guess, there was no issues list ever issued by the Board.  I think that's pretty typical in the case of written applications that there is no issues list.  Of course, where there are oral hearings, it is very typical that there is.  But, in any event, the Board did not have -- did not take the opportunity to issue an issues list where the Section 71 issue was squarely put to the parties.

In my submission, it's clear that the notice of application did not raise the Section 71 issue by looking at the decision itself.  The decision itself explicitly says that, this issue, the Section 71 issue, was:
"...initially raised in this proceeding through interrogatories filed by ECAO and Board Staff." 

So the Board has acknowledged that is the first time this issue was raised.

Now, the next question is:  Well, does the raising of -- do the filing of the interrogatories constitute notice for the purposes of the parties that this is an issue in the hearing?  Fair question.

Well, I have two answers to that.  Well, number 1, that doesn't -- that does nothing for the people who aren't parties to the hearing, the Bruce Powers of this world.  They aren't entitled to any further notice; they're not under any further obligation to pay attention to it at all. They can rely on what they got in the notice of hearing.

So, by definition, we are into an issue not raised by the notice of hearing. 

Secondly, in our submission, whether another intervenor raises some question as a question of fact in an interrogatory is not notice that a question is up for decision.  A party is not -- an intervenor or even Board Staff, for that matter, cannot frame the issues for decision.  Only the Board can do that.

So whether they choose to ask -- as we all know, in these cases, the scope for interrogatories is very wide and parties will push that scope to its outer limits.  So in our submission, the filing of the interrogatory itself does not constitute notice.

Then, finally, I say that if you look at the way the procedural order in this hearing was worked, all of the intervenors, including my client, the PWU, and including the ECAO and including Board Staff, had a single deadline to file their submissions in the proceeding.

My client didn't see Board Staff's submissions or the ECAO's submissions until after it had filed its own submissions.  There was no right of reply.  That was the end of the matter as far as my client was concerned.

My client's submissions don't contain any reference to the section 71 issue, because, frankly, there was nothing to respond to at that point in time.  The issue was -- the section 71 issue, as an issue, is raised in the submissions and it was never acknowledged by the Board that that was in scope.

You have heard Mr. Rattray about how the Board chose to have another round of submissions with respect to another issue, but not this one.

Now, let me just talk to you for a moment about the issue about, well, what is reasonable notice in the context of this case?

It is difficult to find a lot of law on this point, because to the extent the cases deal with the issue of reasonable notice, it tends to be in the context of cases where either no notice at all was given and/or notice wasn't given to an affected party that it should have been given to.  So it tends to be cases where there is -- in effect, the interested party has no notice.

That's not this case.  There clearly was notice.  The argument I am advancing to you was that the notice wasn't sufficient in its content in terms of this issue.

If I can just take you for a moment to tab 3 of my brief.  It is just an excerpt from one of the administrative law texts dealing with a question about notice.  If I can take you to the third page in at page 57 -- sorry, 257, it indicates that:   
"In the absence of a specific statutory prescription, the general rule of procedural fairness is that an administrator must give adequate notice to permit affected persons to know how they might be affected and to prepare themselves adequately to make representations."

Then the next paragraph, second sentence:
"Adequate notice has been held to require that the notice give an accurate description of the true nature and scope of the review."

"True and nature and scope".  

If I could just now take you to tab 2, which was a decision of the divisional court from the -- people that have been around the Board for a long time will remember this case.  This is a case that dealt with Hydro One major transmission line going into southwestern Ontario in the 1980s.

The case involved an entity called the joint board.  The joint board, as you may know, was or is the Environmental Assessment Board and the Ontario Municipal Board sitting together under the Consolidated Hearings Act to give a single decision with respect to particular projects.

What this case stands for is the proposition that even where notice is given, if the content of the notice is not adequate, then the decision given under it will be a nullity.

But there are some interesting comments that, in my submission, might assist the Board.

Unfortunately, my printout of the case didn't have numbers, so I have hand-numbered them up in the top right-hand corner.  If I can take you to page 21.


The issue in the case was:  There was notices published in the newspaper about the fact that there was a proposal to build this major transmission route, and there were apparently, I believe, six potential routes that were up for discussion.  The notice in the newspaper didn't contain any maps or pictorial description of the proposed routes, and described the area in which the proposed routes was located only as "southwestern Ontario".

And the problem was that a lot of the persons who turned out to be in the area where the proposed routes were located didn't consider themselves to be living in southwestern Ontario, and, therefore, never understood that they were in the path, so to speak, of the proposed routes.

So the issue before the court was whether or not the descriptor of southwestern Ontario was sufficient, from the perspective of content of notice.  It was all clear that these persons had actually received notice.  The question was:  Was the content of the notice adequate?

Page 21 at the bottom of last paragraph on the page says:

"In any event, it is well established that where the form or content of notice is not laid down, it must be reasonable in the sense that it conveys the real intentions of the giver and enables the person to whom it is directed to know what he must meet."

Just to be clear, this case specifically references the provisions of Statutory Powers Procedure Act regarding giving notice and they rely upon that.  The same provision exists today.

At page 23, the court notes that a failure to give appropriate notice is a jurisdictional error and renders the decision a nullity.

The court also notes, starting at the bottom of page 23, about the fact that leaving aside the notice, Hydro One went to lengths to undertake public consultation and public notification outside the notice.  They say that is not sufficient.  The court says that.

Ultimately, the court determines that southwestern Ontario wasn't sufficient notice.  It was an inaccurate -- not an accurate descriptor of the true nature of the proceeding, and nullifies the entire proceeding on the basis of the inadequate notice.

Now, this case also has a second aspect which is also relevant to the case we've got here, and that is -- it starts at page 28 of the decision.

It's in the middle of the page where the court says:
"I turn to the applications made to me by the municipalities of Kitchener, Cambridge, Waterloo and Oxford." 

And the difference between those parties was then - the parties that didn't participate at all - was that these parties actually intervened in the proceeding.  But what happens in this proceeding is that there were a number of proposed routes that came from Ontario Hydro, but the Board, of its own initiative, proposed an additional route that was not part of the original notice.

The Board never gave new notice about the additional route.

In the paragraph in the middle of the page, it says: 
"Unlike the COC..." 
which was the main applicant, 

"...these applicants did not rest any objection on the ground they did not receive notice or they did not grasp the significance of their interest.  All did in fact receive the evaluation or summary.  All received or were aware of the notice.  All chose not to appear at the meeting referred to because they concluded that none of the six programs would affect their interests."

Then if you go to the next page in the middle of the page, after describing the facts, the court says:
"There is no room for doubt that none of the municipalities had any intimation that the Board might propose on its own motion a prospective route for transmission lines.  That was in no way foreshadowed by anything in Hydro's proposals."

Then they added the highway 401 corridor.  And then going to the last page, at page 32 of the decision.  After the indented subparagraph, it says as far as the municipalities were concerned the proposed addition of the 401 corridor is:

"an undertaking of an entirely different nature.'" 

The Board does not appear to have thought so, otherwise it would have to stop and start the process again, if it were faithful to its self-imposed injunction.  Why it did not do so is difficult to understand.

The court allows the application on that basis, as well.  In other words, a mid-course change -- even if proper notice was given at the beginning -- a mid-course change can trigger the need to give new and better notice.

So, in my submission, that is what occurred in this case, that at some point in time, during the course of the interrogatories, the Section 71 issue came up in some respect, and in my submission, if the Board was going to deal with that issue, it was appropriate at that time to give new and better notice that that was an issue for decision in the case.

We didn't get that, and we made no submissions on that point and, in my submission, we ought to have had that opportunity.  If it had been given, frankly, in my submission, what you are hearing here from a number of the various parties would have been heard within the context of the hearing, as opposed to on the motion for review.

So, in my submission, there is a serious natural justice issue here, and in my submission, gets us over the threshold and is a reason for a review on the merits.

Let me just turn to the issue of:  There's good reason to doubt the correctness of the decision.

I, too, have read Board Staff's submission about why it submits the decision has to be read narrowly.  The difficulty I have with -- I have two problems with that submission.  


My first problem with it is that the decision, as framed by the Board, is not framed in those terms.  It is framed as an interpretation of general application.  At the end of the day, you have to look at what the Board said.  The decision stands for itself.  Board's interpretation of what the decision says or means is only that: Board Staff's interpretation.  And it's no better or worse than mine or anybody else's in the room; the only persons whose opinion matter is the Board's.

And in my submission, there is nothing you can read in the decision which suggests that it is limited in its effect or application to the relatively narrow issue of a construction of new connection facilities.

But I have a second and perhaps more fundamental problem with that submission, and that is, sitting here, presumably what Board Staff suggests is:  Well, the interpretation of Section 71 in other contexts should properly await a case where that context arises, and submissions should be made at that point in time, and regarding the application.  Well, we do that, as you know.  You hear it all the time from lawyers, trying to distinguish a prior decision and why the present case is different from the prior case and why the Board's decision is distinguishable and ought not to be applied here.

I ask you -- and I ask myself first, and I ask you secondly -- to ask yourself:  Well, if you're sitting on the next case, exactly how do you distinguish this decision from the next case, and say, if the prior decision was right, why it cannot, why it should not be applied here.


In my submission, the way that this decision here has been framed on the Section 71 is there is no way to distinguish it in the next case.  And the reason is this -- and my friend Mr. Cass has dealt with this to some extent already -- the distinctions which are made in this case, the rationale, the justification for the interpretation is largely a single factor, which is ownership.

Arguably, there is an additional factor referred to by my friend Mr. Engelberg, which is fulfilment of licence conditions.  But largely, it is -- I characterize it as a bright line distinction, and that is the ownership of the assets.  That's what the decision says.

In the next case, we would be asking ourselves:  Well, what is it about construction of new connection facilities that makes ownership the critical distinction?  And that the facilities in the question in the next case, that ownership isn't equally -- it is an irrelevant factor, perhaps.

My submission, I go farther than my friend Mr. Cass and I say ownership is irrelevant in the next case.  I say it is also irrelevant here.  I say the issue has to -- the true test should be one of functionality.  Questions of ownership are simply a matter of form.  I say it is about functionality and the function of the assets that matters.

In my submission, I think there is good reason to believe that the Board has taken that approach too, and in that respect I take you to the excerpt of the Transmission System Code that I have included in my brief at Tab 1.

I have included the whole of Section 6.6, which deals with contestability.  If I could take you, first, to 6.6.2 at page 43 of the Transmission System Code, they're talking about the transmitter's obligation to establish connection procedures and including contestability procedures.

Under A, they talk about -- they define the distinction between contestable work and non-contestable work.  The definition is as follows; they say:
"...work that can be done by the transmitter only, on its own existing facilities, including conceptual design..."

That is defined as uncontestable work.  So it is on its own existing facilities.

Then they go on to say:
"...and [on] other connection facility construction and design work may, at a load customer's option, be done by either the transmitter or the load customer..."

which is defined as contestable work.  So ownership matters there, for the purposes of contestability, but we're talking there about contestability in the context of what work only Hydro One can do, versus what work Hydro One and others can do.

Now, we then go, if I can take you to subsection (c), part of the procedures that the transmitter has to develop must include:

"the right of a load customer to choose to carry out the contestable work..."

In other words, work on any facility not owned by the transmitter, 

"...or require the transmitter to do it, provided that the load customer chooses to carry out the contestable work, it must carry out all of the contestable work..."


So I say to you that 6.6.2(c) expressly envisages that a load customer can require Hydro One or any other transmitter to carry out contestable work, which, by definition, is work on assets not owned by the transmitter.

So going in -- if you want to know, from my submission, if you want to know what the status quo going in, from the Board's perspective and the Board's rules, that's it.

If there is any doubt about this, in my submission, just go to subsection (e), which talks about the right of the load customer to transfer any dedicated connection facilities it constructs to the transmitter, and the obligation of the load customer to transfer non-dedicated connection facilities that it constructs to the transmitter.

So you will see there that in sub (e), they subdivide contestable work into two subcategories, namely dedicated connection facilities that is dedicated to a particular load customer, and non-dedicated facilities.

And it is clear that with respect to non-dedicated facilities, the load customer can build those themselves, or have Hydro One build them, but the facilities must be transferred back to the transmitter.

However, with respect to dedicated connection facilities, the transfer back feature is at the customer's option.  In other words, they don't have to transfer them back.  So you explicitly have the scenario envisaged by the Transmission System Code where a customer can require Hydro One or any other transmitter to build the facility, and then the customer can keep it.


That is the very thing the decision here finds to be unlawful; a direct violation of section 71.


And, in my submission, what you've got here, the Transmission System Code is part of the -- it's the Board's ruling with respect to this matter.  The decision has the effect of amending the Code, in my submission, because you have to read parts of 6.6.2(c) out.  And it was done in a context where, of course, there is an amendment procedure to the Transmission System Code and all codes, and it is quite elaborate.  I make reference to it in my materials, but obviously it wasn't engaged in this procedure and the Board adverted to that, that it wasn't engaged in this procedure.


So, in my submission, going into this case, if you ask:  What were the parties' reasonable expectations or reasonable understanding of what was in and what was out?  In my submission, the parties could take comfort from the provisions of the Transmission System Code as reflecting the Board's understanding of what was in and what was out.


In my submission, what was done here creates a new understanding.  In my submission, there are good reasons to doubt the correctness of it, for the reason that it creates anomalous outcomes, many anomalous outcomes, for the reasons submitted by Mr. Engelberg and my friend Mr. Rattray, and others.


Frankly, in my submission, the ownership distinction just doesn't make any sense in a lot of contexts, and including this one, with all due respect.  In my view, the absurd outcomes are not limited to other circumstances.  It includes this very one, in the sense that you can have identical assets performing identical functions, and Hydro One is permitted to do one thing in one case and not in another case.  


And, in my submission, there is just doesn't appear to be any justification for the difference in treatment, no policy justification, and certainly none which is consistent with the objectives of the Board under the Board's statutory objectives.


So I am happy to assist you with any questions you may have, but those are my submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just one, Madam Chair.


Mr. Stephenson, can you take me through one area you just touched on, and I'm just looking at page 44 of the Transmission System Code.


You were making the point - I lost the stream there for a moment - as to the connection between section (c) and your reference to the contestability, and, again, if you can describe to me what your understanding of the contestability, what -- does contestable work in the definition apply to -- does it necessarily denote who owns it?


MR. STEPHENSON:  I have no particular insight into this question beyond what is in the system code itself.  I take section 6.6.2(a) to define the distinction.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is an ownership-based distinction.  Non-contestable work is work that is on Hydro One's -- sorry, the transmitter's, more accurately, own existing facilities.  Only the transmitter can undertake that work.  Okay?  


Contestable work is work on transmission facilities other than the transmitter's own existing facilities.  We're talking about connection facilities here, by the way, specifically referring to connection facilities, just to be clear.


So I take contestable work to mean any connection facility which is not presently owned by the transmitter.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Presently owned?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, I just -- it says existing, so -- and I am not sure what "existing" means, but that's what it says.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, if I could take you to 6.6.2(a) again and just ask you to explain to me what your understanding of the -- about halfway through, where it picks up:

"Provided that if the load customer intends or is required to transfer any connection facilities that it constructs to the transmitter..."


Then going on.  What the meaning of that is in relation to --


MR. STEPHENSON:  How I understand that is that that leads you over to (e).


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the distinction there becomes whether or not they are dedicated connection facilities, which I take to understand means service only one load customer, or non-dedicated connection facilities, meaning more than one load customer.  And the distinction there is, with respect to dedicated, the customer has the right, but not the obligation, to transfer back, but with non-dedicated they have the obligation to transfer back.


That is where I see that coming into -- back into (a).


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No questions, no.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vegh.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Vegh, your microphone.

Submissions by Mr. Vegh


MR. VEGH:  Staff passed up the Board Rules of Practice, and I would like to refer to them in my submissions.


I would like to refer to part 7 of the Rules, which deal with the Board's power to review.  The reason I wanted to take you through this is to get a framework for the Board's determinations of these issues today.


Mr. Moran talked a little bit about the Russell case and how the courts have looked at the powers of regulators to reconsider their decisions and how broad that is, and it is policy driven, et cetera.


That has been codified a bit in these rules.  I would like to just walk through them a bit, because I think the consideration of the submissions that you have heard today should be looked at in two contexts, because there are two sources of power that the Board has to review its decision.  


One source of power is through a motion of a party, and that's under Rule 42.01, and we go through the steps in Rule 44 as set out in the procedural order and as we have been discussing.  Then of course there is Rule 45, which is how that is implemented.


So there is a set of constraints, if you will, on how a party can carry out an application for a motion for the Board to review, and the grounds and the tests that a party has to make, and that's done through rules -- a combination of 42 and 44 and 45.  


But the Board also has a broader power in 43.01, where the rules say that:

"The Board may at any time indicate its intention to review all or part of any order or decision and may confirm, vary, suspend or cancel the order or decision by serving a letter on all parties to the proceeding."


So there are two different routes through which a review can be carried out.  They're related, obviously, but they're separate, and the distinction is by reference to which -- reference to, Who was the subject of the rule?  


For the Rules under 42, 44 and 45, it's the parties, and it's the parties' activities that the rule governs.  For rule 43, it is aimed at the Board.  The rule facilitates the Board in making a decision, and in that case the Board is not bound by the restrictions that are placed upon the parties.


One way to look at this distinction, again, between these two sources -- this is a bit of a simplification and I know it is stripped of some nuance that you could add, but one way to look at this is if a party meets the test under Rule 44, then in that sense a party is entitled to a review.


But Rule 43 can kick in even if the party doesn't meet the test under rule 44.  There have been some questions from the Panel, some questions I think people might have had some difficulty in answering about -- particularly in 44.01(4), when the question is really, you know, should these facts have been brought forward earlier?  If you were paying closer attention, could you have seen these issues come up?  

I don't want to make concessions on behalf of my client, who was a participant, or any other client.  But if the Board finds -- even if the Board finds that there really is nothing particularly new here, the parties should have known about this, the Board may say:  There are some broader issues at stake here that we think we ought to be reconsidering, for the simple reason that we think there will be a better policy outcome if we had a more robust and thorough debate on some of these issues, and some of the consequences on some of these issues.  

So you don't have to find, necessarily, that there was an error in fact, there was a change in circumstance.  You can make a finding that the decision was appropriate under the circumstances, but the Board should consider reviewing it, because that could lead to a better transmission policy.  And that is ultimately what you are here for.

These two rules, or these two routes, are not mutually exclusive.  I can give you just an example off the top of my head of a case where I recall the cushion gas decision.  There was a decision rendered by the Board.  A party moved -- and two of the panel members here, the chair and Mr. Sommerville, were on that panel -- parties to a case moved for a review, and the Board didn't grant the review requested by the parties, but the Board said:  In order to get some clarification out there, because there was some confusion over the decision, the Board would, on its own motion, conduct a review, because the Board wanted to hear submissions and have a better understanding of some of these issues before making a final determination.

So my point is that you still have that authority, and if you determine that parties haven't made the case on the motion for review, you may look around and say:  Well, there is a level of intensity in the submissions here that perhaps was lacking in the case, and maybe there are some issues we should be looking at.  In particular, if there is a need to clarify around the question of what is the scope of restricted activities, and should that be stated a little more precisely, that comes out of a review, as well.  The cushion gas decision itself was a review that was carried out to provide some greater clarity in the decision.

So when you are considering the submissions of all of the parties in the room today, I would ask that you ask yourself two questions.  First, has the applicant made out its case under section 44?  If you determine it has, then the applicant is entitled to a review.  But if you determine that the applicant hasn't made out that case, you should ask yourself:  Well, should we carry out a review anyway?  Because there are some issues we want to have some better submissions on, for whatever reason.  We want to have better submissions on these issues, and make sure that we're confident in the outcome, so -- to frame the motion for review.

I would also ask when you consider the test for the stay.  Again, the test for the stay is a party can apply for a stay.  When the party applies for a stay, they have to meet the requirements of a stay, obviously.  But the Board, again, has greater discretion in looking at the implementation of its own decisions.  And to give you another example, I recall in the whole GDAR process, there were no stays granted throughout the process, but the Board had an orderly implementation of the rules, depending on its own sense of what is the appropriate timetable for implementation of pieces, and what rules were perhaps premature to go in.

In none of those cases did the Board apply a formal test for a stay.  Again, that's a case a party has to make, and the Board is not constrained by that kind of legal requirement.

So the grounds upon which the Board can carry out a review or stage-in the -- delay the implementation or address the implementation of any element of this case is very broad, and there is really no constraint other than your consideration of what's in the public interest.

So some of the questions around the consequences of a stay, I think, could be considered in that light.  I don't think it is necessary to become too caught up in the – in, you know, what happens if there is a stay from a legal perspective.  From a legal perspective, they say you can't stay a declaration, and have you effectively made a declaration of law and how do you stay that, et cetera.  I could understand if you were a court of law that is a fair question.

But really, when you look at what the decision did, is it struck out some components of Hydro One's CCRA, and so if you consider to review and to maintain the status quo, then those components stay in place.

You also have the compliance bulletin that was referred to.  But, you know, the fact is the compliance bulletin stayed in place with the rules of the Transmission System Code, and perhaps it was a bit of inconsistency there to begin with.  There are some -- the status quo might have embedded within it some uncertainty.  I mean, really the compliance bulletin, I mean, if we try to characterize what this is as a legal instrument, it's a reflection of the prosecutorial discretion that the Compliance Office is going to be exercising.  It provides some guidance around that to the parties.  It doesn't purport to be a legal declaration, and of course, if someone wants to challenge that compliance bulletin -- I'm sorry, not the compliance bulletin, but the chief compliance officer's interpretation of a decision – well, there is a process to work that -- for that to work itself out as well, in a violation provision under the legislation.

So the fact that there was a status quo that might have sent some mixed messages in the past, means that that status quo might maintain.

But again, the question is, looking at the issues in front of you today:  What is really the best way to move forward?  Is it to just implement the decision as planned immediately?  Or is it to get some further information, insight, submissions, perspectives on these issues, and to address some of the implications?

So with that in mind, I would like to address two areas for which a review is sought.  That's with respect to Section 6.3.6 of the code, and with respect to contestability.

In both of these areas, the OPA's perspective is a fairly limited one, so it is really the perspective of an agency that is primarily concerned with planning for these, for the purposes of today.  That is really the perspective we're bringing to this issue.

So in 6.3.6, there have been some submissions made already on it, on this issue.  I don't want to take away from those, but I won't repeat them either.  I just want to bring another perspective to this, and that is really:  What is it that has to be done by the transmitters to comply with Section 6.3.6?  Because my submission is that the transmitters' plan -- the local area supply plan, in this case -- does supply with Section 6.3.6.  And that the conclusion in the decision that there was non-compliance is, in my submission, incorrect, because there was a misapplication of the standard that, really, the transmitter had to meet.

So when we step back here a bit and ask:  Well, what was this case all about in the first place?  This application was for -- was to determine whether or not the transmitter's policies were consistent with the requirements of Section 6.1.4 of the Transmission System Code.  It's important to emphasize, for my submissions at least, the concept of consistency, and that was the test that the Board explicitly provided in this case, because the Board was faced with the question of:  Well, should you review every legal right that comes out of the CCRA or this process?  Or should you allow some discretion, provided that what the transmitters are doing is consistent with what is in the TSC?  The Board looked as that issue explicitly, and said that the test is really one of consistency.

I've quoted in my written submissions, on page 2, the excerpts towards the bottom of the page is a quotation from the TSC, from the decision, at page 4 of the decision.

At the bottom of the decision, there is a three-paragraph quotation.  I just want to take you to the last sentence of the first paragraph; it says requiring the approval of a template would have the effect of freezing the terms of the CCRA in a way that would frustrate that objective.  And that objective was to provide some flexibility, provided that what is being done is consistent with the overall requirements of the code.  That standard is quite an important standard, in my view, and it is important with respect to what Hydro One had to demonstrate to meet its compliance with section 6.3.6.

The standard is one of consistency.  My submission will be that the Board, in the decision, departed from that standard and applied a stricter standard.

As a result, that was an error and that's what should be reconsidered, so that if the Board does hold a review of this issue again, it should hold that review by reference to a standard of consistency and ask itself the question:  Is Hydro One's plans based on local area supply consistent with the requirements under 6.3.6?

So what does "consistent" mean?  On page 3 of my submissions, I have a quotation from the Supreme Court of Canada decision interpreting the word "inconsistent", because it is a pretty strict standard.  It is in the middle of my quotation.  It says:
 "'Inconsistent' means that the law logically contradicts its objectives, whereas 'unnecessary' means that an objective could be met by other means."

So it's really a question of:  Is something logically compatible with what is required?  So in this case, is the local area supply plan logically compatible or is it incompatible with what is required in section 6.3.6 of the code?  

My submission is that it is compatible.  Looked at from this perspective, it is logically compatible with section 6.3.6.

So with that, I would like to look at section 6.3.6 of the code.  So this is the obligation that is put on transmitters, and the question is:  Did Hydro One meet that obligation?  It says:
"The transmitter shall develop and maintain plans to meet load growth and maintain the reliability and integrity of its transmission system."

So the question is:  Did the plans that Hydro One developed using its local area supply plan methodology meet this requirement of a plan to meet load growth and maintain reliability?

Now, in the decision and submissions there is a lot of discussion around, you know, how you interpret section 6.3.6.  Is it an exception to something else and, therefore, to be read narrowly, or is it do you just read it on its own terms?  And you have had different interpretations of what this section requires, whether it is an exception or whether it is not an exception.

My submission is that the way you read this is simply looking at, specifically, what it says - there is an obligation to create these plans - and ask if Hydro One has met this obligation in light of section 6.3.6 as drafted, because, of course, it's trite to say that if the Board had wanted a different type of plan under section 6.3.6, it could go through a process and amend this section.  I am tired of saying 6.3.6.


So the Board could change the terms if they want to.  

I want to make a submission about section 6.3 in terms of how you look at all of these provisions in terms of what's customer-driven and what is system-driven.  I hope that this submission is not too presumptuous, because I think that what all of these sections try to do are actually trying to balance two conflicting ideas.  The two conflicting ideas are, on the one hand, the transmitter is responsible to meet the needs of load growth, and, on the other hand, loads are responsible to meet their own growth need.

So all of section 6.3 I think is trying to balance these two conflicting issues.  I don't think it is the case that, you know, one weighs more than the other.  They're both valid, if somewhat conflicting, ideas, which is sort of inherent in transmission policy, I think, because it is a complicated area, and there is a lot of balancing.  

So given that there are two conflicting goals, the test is:  Well, where is the appropriate balance?

And the standard that the Board said it was going to apply is consistency.  Is the policy that's being developed, is this plan logically compatible with this goal here?  And the goal is, as I say, somewhat contradictory.

So I don't think that someone has to demonstrate or that a transmitter has to demonstrate that they have the balance exactly right or that there is such a thing as an exactly correct balance.

In fact, the OPA's submissions were that -- in this case, was that it thought the transmitter actually got the balance a little bit wrong.  It wasn't 100 percent supportive of the transmitter's policy, but it said, generally, this is supportable.  I think most of the submissions or most of the customers thought it was generally supportable.  

So it doesn't really have to be perfect, but it has to be consistent, and I submit that it is consistent.  What Hydro One is proposing is not logically incompatible with section 6.3.6 of the code.  It meets that requirement.

In fact, the only other submissions I have seen really on an alternative approach which argued that this was not compatible, was the submissions put forward by Board Staff.  And the reason I want to refer to those for a moment is that these submissions take what I consider to be a more extreme position, which is that you can only be on one -- which is that it is not really about a balance, but it is about two sort of separate activities.  So it is not just about -- in other words, Staff says, Well, there were two types of plans here.  One plan is about reliability, and the other plan is about load growth.

But, to me, that's an extreme position that is actually not consistent with 6.3.6, because you can't separate these two elements.

I have next to me the engineer from the OPA who can explain why you can't separate the two elements, but even in the TSC itself it defines reliability as the ability to meet load.  So these are two sides of the same coin, and to depart from that and say you should have two separate, parallel plans, that is, in my view, logically incompatible with section 6.3.6.  


And I would submit that Hydro One's shot at the balance is compatible with this, that it may be over time that that balance should evolve, with experience, et cetera.  But given that the test that the Board said it was going to apply was one of consistency or logical compatibility, I would submit that Hydro One has met that test, and if the Board were to review this matter, it should review it from that perspective and give a little more flexibility and room for different types of plans that could meet the requirements in 6.3.6.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't want to interrupt your train of thought, Mr. Vegh, but the decision does say that these determinations need to be made on the basis of plans that have to be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.

It seems to me that that is an expression of flexibility.  Do you see a rigidity in the decision that you find objectionable?  Is that the focus of your remarks?

MR. VEGH:  It's the rejection of the Hydro One approach where I would see the over-rigidity.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It wasn't a rejection necessarily of the Hydro One approach.  I think, if I read the decision, it certainly wasn't intended to reject the Hydro One approach categorically, but to say, first of all, it is not the only approach that could be taken and that it needed to be more completely expressed and documented, if you like, in order to qualify for the 6.3.6 situation.

I would have thought that of all parties, your client would be the one who would welcome the idea of a kind of planning exercise that is somewhat more inclusive, rather than exclusive.  Consistency doesn't, in my respectful idea, sort of is not the idea that it has to be -- if it meets the test, that that's an end to the discussion, but, rather, are there other approaches?  Is there a broader approach?  Is there an inclusive approach that would also meet that requirement?  That's also consistent.

I am having trouble finding your argument in the space between the motion from Hydro One and the decision.

MR. VEGH:  Well, I guess our submission is that the approach by Hydro One is a workable approach and it's more workable from a planning perspective than the approach suggested by the decision.  It's more workable because it is more predictable.  


And there are also a couple of specific points in there that cause some concern.  I think Hydro One's approach is also a little more revenue neutral.  So there is less of a concern about whether something goes into the -- is considered a customer responsibility or a network responsibility.

So that Hydro One doesn't have, or Hydro One's customers don't really have an incentive to say to Hydro One:  Put this into network.  Put this into connection, because, you know, we don't want to pay for it.  So there is a distortionary, a potentially distortionary element.

The other area for concern -- because as a system planner, you just want it to go into the right pool, whatever it is, and you don't want to create incentives to be a little more contrived about where something would go in, depending on the outcome.  The other element is -- the concern is that the decision really puts a big emphasis on whether or not the transmitter is in communications with the customer and there's some going back and forth.  But it does create the risk that if a customer is involved in communications with the transmitter on load requirements, then that is enough to trigger a requirement that a customer pay for the upgrade.

And that is a real concern, because that is not a good planning practice, to have customers reluctant to communicate with transmitters about what their supply needs are.

So that's the other concern, is that it creates an incentive towards the planning approach that the OPA is concerned about, in terms of just good planning, because the OPA talks to customers to find out what the needs are.  The OPA talks to Hydro One.  We wouldn't want to create a system where there are any barriers between a customer's communication with the transmitter on what its load requirements will be.

In terms of contestability, the OPA appreciates that facilitating competition in customer connection choice and customer choice in connections is an important and valid goal for the OEB in developing transmission policy.  It has always been a large element of the Transmission System Code.  The OPA's only real concern in this case is the choice to address this through a legal interpretation of the requirements of Section 71 that is largely driven by property ownership.

The submission is that this approach and this particular finding of, you know, what constitutes transmission by reference to ownership should be effectively rescinded for three different reasons.

First, in terms of whether or not this was properly in scope, Mr. Stephenson has approached this from a notice perspective.  I think another way to look at this question of scope is by reference to:  What was really the mandate of the panel?

The mandate of the panel was to make a decision under 6.1.4 on the consistency of the connection policies with the TSC.  Mr. Stephenson has gone through the TSC and said:  Well, the TSC doesn't contain the types of restrictions that are -- or legal declarations that come out of the decision.

So to me, you could look at it from a question of natural justice, or you could look at it from just saying this is not what the proceeding was established to address, to provide a legal declaration on the legality even of Section 6.3.6, because as Mr. Stephenson points out, there are some issues around some of the provisions in here that, in light of the decision, it is arguable that some of these provisions are now illegal, provisions of the Transmission System Code, not just the CCRA.

The second reason why I think that finding ought to be reconsidered is that it is legally questionable whether asset ownership should be treated as determinative for the purposes of Section 71.  Other people made submissions on that; I won't repeat them.

From a planning perspective, which is the OPA's main concern here, the concern is that looking at this issue of what activities the transmitter can carry out and how they are funded, looking at this issue through the prism of property rights and the prism of Section 71 is, from the OPA's perspective, too limited.

The reason is that the issues that we're facing on transmission planning in this province are going to be too complex and too involved, and require too much innovation and thinking, in our submission, to be determined by simply a declaration of who owns the property.

Let me just provide some context to that.  Ontario, like other jurisdictions in North America, is really going through a rethinking of transmission policy.  Who builds it?  Who builds the transmission?  How is it paid for?  How is it funded?  What is the relevance of rate base on a going-forward basis?  Who can participate in building transmission?

As a province, we are embarking on a really ambitious policy of expanding transmission, expanding renewable infrastructure, and we're not alone in that.  Other jurisdictions in North America are doing that, and what we see from other jurisdictions is that there is a lot of innovation going along, and creative thinking, and a number of different tools being used for transmission policy.  And our submission is that, at this stage in particular, it is a mistake to constrain the approach as to who builds and how it is funded by references to categorical legal conclusions based on property rights, based on legal ownership.

The experience from other jurisdictions is they look at ownership as a much more fluid concept.  In my submissions, I refer to a major new approach out of the United States where FERC has reconsidered how should you fund transmission lines for renewable power.  This is a particular pressing issue for Ontario, given we have a supply-mix directive with very aggressive requirements for renewable power.  We have a supply-mix directive which says the transmission should be installed to facilitate these new sources of power.

As I said, other jurisdictions and in the US in particular face the same sorts of issues, and the reference in our submissions is to the FERC treatment of an enabler line, and it is particularly relevant because the approach FERC has taken to establishing enabler lines is that they had to rethink their transmission policy because the renewables that were trying to be acquired in the US and in Ontario tend to be far away from loads.  They are incremental in their supply, and they can't be developed in accordance with traditional transmission funding policy.

So there are obviously some comparisons here.  So the approach that they have taken now in the FERC is to allow transmitters to develop transmission lines.  Sometimes the lines are in the rate base, sometimes they're out of rate base, sometimes they start in rate base and sometimes the lines are subscribed to by generators and then effectively taken out of rate base.

The point of this today, of course, is not to argue about what is the right method of funding transmission policy.  But the point is that we are embarking on this new requirement.  The IPSP that has been filed with the Board specifically asks the Board to conduct a review of transmission policy, because under our current transmission policy, there is a real concern about whether or not the renewable targets can be met, because of barriers to transmission funding and the regulatory treatment of transmission.

So as we start on this, you know, going down this new road and rethinking transmission, the OPA's submission is that we shouldn't be tying our hands right now.

The Board has a legitimate interest, and the contractors have a legitimate interest, in trying to address issues around competition, and that's fair and that should be done.  But there is a bigger picture here, as well.  We should be sort of going into our next steps of rethinking transmission policy, keeping that bigger picture in mind, so that if the Board is going to make a determination of who can fund transmission and who can build it and how should it be paid for, we think you ought to look at a broader scope; and it's not just a question about competition.  Competition is an important factor, but it is not the only and ultimate factor.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Vegh, can you draw a line between all of that and the threshold questions before us?

MR. VEGH:  So, I didn't want to repeat other people's submissions on the threshold question, but just a legal --

MS. NOWINA:  Please don't.

[Laughter]

MS. NOWINA:  I just want to connect your comments to the decision we have to make for this stage of this proceeding.

MR. VEGH:  So the initial question is:  Was there an error in the determination based on property?  I submit that there was, and I will adopt others' around that.  Then the question is:  Well, what impact, if you were to reconsider this, what new information would you have and would that therefore lead to a materially different result?

I am saying it could lead to a materially different result, because I would submit if you are going to consider the question of who can fund and build transmission lines, you should consider it within the context of the expectations on the transmission system over the coming years. So that's where I would draw the line, that it really goes to the point of would this have a material impact if you considered this sort of information, in the determination of who can build and how do you fund transmission expansion.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. VEGH:  On that, I will finish it.  Thank you.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

We will take our afternoon break now and resume at 2:15.
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--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:15 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 2:26 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Ms. Band, I believe you're next.

Submissions by Ms. Band


MS. BAND:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


The Board has asked for submissions today on a number of preliminary issues relating to Hydro One's motion.


I will dispense quickly with two of the items that were on that list.  As indicated in our written submissions, we take no position on the request -- on the position of the request to extend the time to file the motion, and we also do not oppose the request to extend the time to file a revised version of the connection procedures on the -- that relate to the two sections, excuse me, of the decision that are at issue in Hydro One's motion.


Unless the Panel has any questions on that, I wouldn't propose to spend any more time on those two issues.


The rest of my submissions deal with the threshold question and the request for a stay.


I don't profess that I will be saying a great deal more than what is already in my submissions, except perhaps to provide a limited response to some of the comments we heard earlier today.


On the threshold issue, I want to begin just touching briefly on what Staff's role is in making submissions today.  We're here to assist the Board in evaluating the arguments that the parties have made as to whether or not the decision meets the threshold for review.


Mr. Vegh and others earlier today have spoken to the issue that the Board has wide latitude in relation to review matters and it has a wide latitude in relation to those matters both of its own motion and on application.


We don't really take exception to either -- to the comments of either of those gentlemen.  We are, however, mindful that the task that has been set for us today is to assist the Panel in relation to an applicant-driven motion, and to that end we are offering our submissions in relation to an application made in relation to Rule 44 of the rules that was described by some of the other parties today.


So turning now to the threshold question.  Oh, I guess, actually, in some respects I have said pretty much everything I wanted to say about the threshold question, except to add that in the case of an applicant-driven motion to review, Staff's submission is that it is not enough for -- or that the Panel should not accept that it is sufficient to simply reargue the case or to say, I might have preferred a different outcome.  


As indicated in the notice of hearing and in the procedural order, we believe the moving party must show that the decision is incorrect in an identifiable, relevant and material way.


I now want to turn to the section 71 question.  As many people noted this morning, our understanding of the decision in relation to that issue is considerably narrower than the understanding of a number of other parties.


We believe that the decision stands for one issue only, and that that issue is a fairly narrow one.  And it is essentially whether a transmitter can construct customer-owned connection facilities.


To put that in a little bit of context, the code contemplates three options for connection.  The first option is that Hydro One builds and owns the connection facility.  The decision in relation to section 71 does not affect that option or doesn't speak to that option.


The second option is that the customer builds the connection facility to transfer to Hydro One.  We don't believe the decision deals with that option either.


Where we believe the decision focuses is on option 3, which is the scenario where the customer decides to build and own the connection facility.  In that limited circumstance, we understand the decision to say that section 71 prohibits a -- where a customer has elected to build and own its own connection facilities, the decision indicates that the transmitter cannot thereafter bid in competition with third parties to perform that work.  That is a business activity that is not permitted under section 71 of the Act.


On that basis, we do not understand the decision to address the status under section 71 of the variety of other services that are of legitimate concern to the parties in this room.  That would include services such as metering, maintenance and repair and protection and control.  Those services are not affected by the decision or were not disposed of in the decision, because in fact they were not at issue in the proceeding leading up to that decision.


So to reiterate, the decision concludes that a transmitter cannot bid to construct customer-owned connection facilities where the customer has elected to treat that work as contestable.


Board Staff does not believe that we have heard compelling arguments to the effect that that conclusion is incorrect.


A number of parties have raised the question about the significance of ownership as a factor to be considered in relation to section 71.  On that point, Staff is of the view that we have not heard any compelling reason why ownership is not a relevant factor in relation, again, to the very specific issue of whether or not a transmitter can bid to construct customer-owned facilities.


We would also put forward that the importance that was given to the ownership criterion in this decision is not necessarily dispositive of the importance of that criterion in relation to any other services.


As the decision did not deal with those services, the relative weight to be given to ownership as a factor in deciding whether another service is or is not prohibited by section 71 has, similarly, not been determined by this decision.


Mr. Stephenson has made submissions this morning about the adequacy of notice that was given in relation to this particular issue in the connection -- in the proceeding.


If I may, I would like to spend just a couple of minutes on the record of the proceeding, or the combined proceeding as it relates to the section 71 issue.  The first thing I would like to note is that the Board did issue notice of the proceeding, and that notice, as they often do, referred parties to Hydro One's application.


Hydro One's application included Hydro One's proposed connection procedures.  Hydro One's proposed connection procedures, in turn, contained the statement in relation to this third option about the customer building and owning the connection facility -- contained the statement that says:  

"Hydro One may be part of the bidding process, to act as a contractor to the connecting customer if hired by the customer."


The issue was, therefore, in play as a result of what was in Hydro One's connection procedures.


In addition to that, Board Staff and the ECAO both filed interrogatories that raised the section 71 issue in connection with that particular statement.  The interrogatories specifically questioned whether section 71 of the Act allows Hydro One to construct customer-owned connection facilities.


Staff's interrogatory went even further to identify Staff's view that in fact this activity was not allowed or permitted by section 71 of the Act.


Parties had an opportunity to make submissions in that proceeding.  Board Staff and the ECAO made submissions on this very specific issue, and Hydro One made reply submissions on the issue.


So to summarize, parties had notice of Hydro One's connection procedures from the outset.  The issue of whether a transmitter can bid to construct customer-owned connection facilities was raised by Hydro One's connection procedures.  The issue was canvassed by a number of parties.


That is all I would propose to say on the section 71 issue, unless the Panel has any questions at this point.


So I am now going to turn to the issue of the interpretation of the code, the second issue that has been raised in this proceeding.


On this point, again, I have little to add to what is in our written submission.  As most people in this room will know, cost responsibility is an issue that has a considerable history with the Board, and that was examined at considerable length during the consultations that led to the adoption of the code as it stands today.

The Board's policy on cost responsibility I would characterize as having at heart three propositions.  The first proposition is the cost responsibility should rest with the customer, if the facilities are customer-driven.  


The second is that this first proposition is not displaced simply because more than one customer is driving the need for the connection facility.

The third is that customers should not pay for connection facilities that were otherwise planned by a transmitter, other than for advancement costs.

That is the Board's policy.  That is what the code says.  And ultimately that is what the decision says.

To maybe perhaps pick up on a theme that was raised by Mr. Vegh earlier, there is a balancing, perhaps, inherent in the code, and the panel in this proceeding was asked to -- could be characterized as having been asked to balance between one position where Section 6.3.6 of the code was given greater weight than other provisions of the code that deal with cost responsibility, against the implications of treating Section 6.3.6 as an exception to the otherwise-applicable cost responsibility provisions of the code.

And the panel in its decision identifies that Section 6.3.6 provides an exception to the allocation of costs for the construction of connection facilities, and in arriving at that determination and that that is the appropriate balance, whilst people may -- Sorry, let me start again.

In arriving at that as the appropriate balance, that was not -- there was no error made in doing that.  While people may have different views of the relative merits of the implications of having made that decision, in and of itself it is neither in error nor inconsistent with the code.

A number of submissions today raised specifically these points about the implications of the decision.  The implications of the decision and the way it was made and the implication of the decision, in terms of what might be the outcome if a different decision had been made.

I would like to make two points on that.  The first one is that those implications were, in fact, largely before the Panel in the connection procedures decision.  That proceeding was opened to ask for submissions on this issue and submissions were received by a number of parties, many of whom are in this room today.

The implications have been, perhaps, expanded upon through the course of this particular proceeding, but many of them were, in fact, in front of the panel, and they were considered by the panel.

The second comment that I would like to make on the submissions is that, to our mind, the submissions raise, fundamentally, issues of policy.  And that doesn't make them unimportant.  They are interesting and significant issues that have been raised by a number of parties.  However, Staff raises whether this is an appropriate forum in which to be having a debate about these policy issues.  We are here to determine whether or not the decision should be reviewed, whether it meets the test for review, and I would submit that, if it is the case that these are policy issues that the Board wishes to look at, either re-examine or look at more closely in the context of new developments and evolution in the market, then there are appropriate forums in which to do that.

I want to, if I may, make a few comments on the request for the stay that has been requested by Hydro One.

On the Section 71 issue, again, I want to reiterate that, to our mind, the request for a stay is not -- there is no need for a stay in relation to the variety of other services that have been raised by the different parties today, such as construction and maintenance and repair, simply because, again, in our submission the decision has not disposed of their status under Section 71.

In relation to the more limited issue of the construction of customer-owned facilities, various parties have mentioned today that the compliance bulletin holds -- does not have the force of law.  We don't disagree with that.  On its face, it expresses that it is the view of the chief compliance officer, and doesn't bind the Board.

However, it is Staff's understanding that as a general rule, distributors and transmitters have been organizing their affairs in accordance with that compliance bulletin since it was issued.  I have no knowledge to the contrary, and as such, as a practical matter, that appears to us to represent the status quo.

I don't think I need to really belabour the status quo issue.  If I turn to the different considerations for granting a stay, our submission is also that I don't believe we have heard -- I may have missed it -- that there will be irreparable harm if Hydro One is not permitted to embark on new projects to construct connection facilities between now and the disposition of this motion.

Our submissions indicate, and I will just repeat it, that we don't believe that it would be in the public interest to require them to stop construction work that they may be doing now, but we have not heard that either -- that the balance of convenience would favour Hydro One at this point embarking on any new such projects.

On the question of a stay in relation to the code provision, the concern that we would raise in relation to the criteria that have been expressed by the Board is that we do not have a sense for the order of magnitude of the problem -- if I can put it that way -- that may subsist between now and the time that a decision is made on a determination of the motion, if there is actually a decision to review the decision.

And we do not have a sense of how many projects necessarily are going to be significantly affected, nor the order of magnitude of the impact on the customers involved.  So in the absence of having a better sense of what the practical implications are of not granting a stay, or allowing Hydro One to continue with its current practice, our concern would be that it is not clear that the criterion for granting a stay has been met in this particular case.

Those are my submissions.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just briefly, Ms. Band, do you know whether Hydro One has filed the amended connection procedures, other than those that relate to the two sections?

MS. BAND:  I believe that they have.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  They have done?  Okay.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Frank.
Submissions by Mr. Frank


MR. FRANK:  I get the privilege of going last, so hopefully most of what I would have said has been said, and I can focus a bit more on responding.

I do want to amplify a few of the points Ms. Band made, and say that ECAO adopts them.

I would comment that it is ECAO's view that Section 71, interpreted correctly, would cover some of the other services that are beyond the narrower scope, but it is not ECAO's position that the decision as it currently stands deals with that.

So in light of that, I would also simply draw the Board's attention to the decision and Mr. Engelberg's comments early on in which he asked somewhat rhetorically whether Hydro One was to assume this narrower focus.  And I would suggest that the answer to that is, absolutely, as in the pages we were looking at earlier, pages 10 and 11 of the decision, I note that the word "construct" or construction" or "build" are found no less than eleven times, if I counted correctly.


In other words, I think it was pretty clear that the focus and aim of the decision was to limit or prohibit Hydro One from acting as a contractor on behalf of the customer in relation to the construction of customer-owned facilities.  So I will just make that point right off.


In terms of some of the notice arguments that have been made, whether notice was properly given, I certainly adopt what Ms. Band said and note that the interrogatories that were referred to were filed as early as, I believe, November 3rd and procedural order was around October 18th.  So this is pretty early on in the proceeding that people have notice of the issue of the transmitter's ability to bid for the construction work in issue, and also have notice as early as the filing of those interrogatories of Board Staff's position or opinion that section 71 prohibited that.


So that's pretty early on in the proceeding, and parties certainly had the opportunity to begin to focus on that issue.


I would also note that the comment by my friend, Mr. Rattray, about the date of the affidavits sworn by ECAO having been December and been ultimately filed in January, that was simply a result of the fact that there was a procedural order in that proceeding that changed the date for filing from December 15th, as I recall, to January 26th.  And, as I believe, except for perhaps the Power Workers' Union, which filed its material a day or two earlier, all parties filed their submissions on January 26th and ECAO simply took the time to ensure that its submissions were complete.


As for the comments of Mr. Stephenson that there was no right of reply, I note that there was a reply submission by Hydro One and there was no request for a reply submission by anyone else.


Issue was joined as between the submissions of Board Staff and ECAO and the reply submissions of Hydro One.  All parties received that.  No one came forward and wrote to the Board or requested any type of relief or procedure whereby they would have an opportunity to say, Well, we've looked at this and we think we should weigh in.  We should have an opportunity to make submissions, or we need to ask interrogatories about any evidence that's been filed.  No one came forward with anything, and the matter proceeded accordingly.


I would submit it was only after the decision came out, which certain parties take issue with, that they now wish to reargue what they had proper notice of and could have dealt with earlier.


I would submit, as Ms. Band did, that the decision is not inconsistent with the Transmission System Code provisions.


As I understood Mr. Stephenson's submissions, he believes that a situation where the transmitter builds and the customer owns is something that would be unlawful, given the decision, and, in ECAO's submission, that is not one of the possibilities under the Transmission System Code, certainly as interpreted by Hydro One.  And, in that respect I would simply refer the Board to the contestability procedure.


There is no need to turn it up, but at page 39 there are the three possibilities.  Ms. Band has already mentioned them.  The three of them do not include one where the transmitter builds and the customer owns.  So I would submit there is no inconsistency there.


In terms of the correctness of the decision, I would note that I don't believe there is any dispute that the construction work in relation to customer-owned facilities is contestable work.  I don't think there is any dispute about that.  I don't think there is any dispute that there is a competitive market for such work, such that this is a competitive activity.


So I ask myself a question:  How can something be both a competitive activity and a transmitting activity?  It doesn't seem to make sense to me, and I would submit that an activity cannot be both.  In other words, section 71 is correctly interpreted to mean that the transmitter is required to perform competitive activities through an affiliate.


I have a few short materials to pass up.  I don't think very much turns on looking at them directly, and I could certainly make the point without them, but I thought just so the Panel has it, so the Board has it, I could explain where the following comment comes from.


But in the RP-1999-0044 proceeding, --


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, Mr. Frank.  Let's stop and mark them as an exhibit.


MR. FRANK:  Yes.  So the first one would be the transcript or an excerpt of a transcript from RP-1999-0044.


MS. BAND:  That will be Exhibit K4.

EXHIBIT NO. K4:  EXCERPT FROM TRANSCRIPT IN RP-1999-0044.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. FRANK:  On page 23 of 127, if one looks at the upper right-hand corner, toward the bottom -- again, I don't think it is so important that one looks directly at the wording, but I wanted it to be in the record where this came from.  This was a cross-examination of what was then Ontario Hydro Networks.


At lines 12 and following, there are some questions that are agreed to by the Ontario Hydro witness.  The first one is:

"You would agree that the transmission of electricity as a regulated business function would have to be carried out in a company separate from other companies providing competitive business activities?"


And the answer is: 

"Yes.  Delivering the transmission service, you are correct."

"Question:  Thank you.  Then the next question, would you agree that a competitive business activity is an activity where more than one entity provides that activity, where a customer has the option of choosing more than one entity to provide that service?"


The answer is "yes".


So the point I am simply trying to make is that if we're talking about context, if we're talking about expectations of parties and if we're interpreting the section, I would say as far back -- and I would say further back than this, it was in contemplation that competitive services would be done from an entity other than the transmitter.


I would support Ms. Band's submission that the decision is also consistent with the compliance bulletin, and I think, as pointed out earlier, the connection procedures themselves make reference to ownership, and the transmission code itself has distinctions as to ownership.


So I would submit that it is reasonable that ownership is used as a basis for determining Hydro One's ability to perform competitive connection work.


I am going to use the balance of my time to respond to some of the submissions.  I will just take a bit of an aside for a moment to say, with regard to the request for a stay, in the event that the Board were to conclude that a review of section 3.3 of the connection decision is warranted, I would submit that the test has not been met simply for the reasons in ECAO's written submissions and those outlined by Board Staff.


I don't think there is any need to elaborate further at this point.

I will apologize if the following is a bit choppy, it's just meant to respond to some of the other submissions.

There were a number of questions regarding the, I guess, status quo issue as it related to whether, at all times, Hydro One Networks was the entity performing services, and we heard a little bit of information about Hydro One Networks Services Inc.  We have uncovered and I have passed up a decision of the Financial Services Tribunal.

I will note right off the bat that my understanding is the decision itself is under appeal to the divisional court, and I am not passing it up for the substance of what was decided but rather for what's at page 18, which lays out a little bit of the factual information to the best, again, to the best of my understanding, of what was happening in the period after January 1, 2001.  So I am at page 18. 


MS. NOWINA:  We will mark this as an exhibit, as well.

MS. BAND:  Yes.  It will be Exhibit K5.
EXHIBIT NO. K5:  DECISION OF FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

MR. FRANK:  I am at the first full paragraph, which begins:
"'Network Services' was created as a separate entity within the Hydro One corporate family as of January 1, 2001.  The original purpose of splitting this out from the original subsidiary networks was to create a major business element which would be unregulated, which could bid for and supply the maintenance and operating needs of Networks, the owner of the transmission and distribution assets, and which could also earn profit for Hydro One by offering its expertise to other utilities.

"The intended interplay between networks and Network Services created the possibility of cross-subsidization between the two entities, if services were transferred between them for more or less than fair market value.  This possibility was foreseen by OEB as early as 1999, when that Board issued a Draft Affiliate Relationships Code for electricity distributors and transmitters, the ARC, dated April 1, '99.  The code itself was dated February 1, 2001."

It continues a line lower:
"...from an early stage, management recognized that Network Services would have difficulty in meeting this regulatory requirement.  In a risk profile as of June 2000, submitted to the audit and finance committee of the board of Hydro One by Hydro One's general auditor and chief risk officer, the corporate risk of the launch of Network Services was rated as high.  Among the factors contributing to this assessment was 'the ability of Networks Services to achieve a competitive crossed structure.'  This factor crystallized in the summer of 2002, when, by a letter dated July 16, 2002, the OEB advised Hydro One that Networks was in breach of ARC.  That letter set out three possible courses to remedy this breach, one of which was to merge Networks and Network Services."
And it goes on to say that ultimately Hydro One decided to merge for a number of reasons.

I put this forward simply as an answer to some of the questions about the status, and to show that there has been some time where there has been some play back and forth about who should be performing what services, how that can be in compliance with the various regulatory codes, the Act, and other regulatory mechanisms, and obviously some concern about compliance with the ARC and also references to cross subsidization.  All of which, I say, is consistent with and supports the correctness of the decision.

There was some question, as well, about what would the effect of a stay be, or what should it be, and what is meant by "status quo".

I think I understood Hydro One's submission to be that it should effectively allow Hydro One to continue any activities it's currently undertaking, and I would submit that that may go a bit too far.

I would submit the appropriate approach would be to advise that parties -- should the stay be granted.  In the event the stay is granted, parties should proceed on the basis that the decision made no determination one way or another about Section 71.  

The reason I make that distinction is because, should the stay actually endorse the activities going on, that may tie the hands of future panels, Board compliance staff and others, with respect to taking steps that they might take, notwithstanding the fact that Section 71 interpretation is now stayed.

So I think that is a distinction that should be made.  

I want to simply state for the record -- I don't think it is relevant for the disposition of the motion, but I don't want it to go unsaid -- that ECAO does take issue with and dispute some of the facts as laid out in the positions of both OPG and Bruce Power, as well as Hydro One, as to the ability of others to perform the services which, under the narrow interpretation, are said to be outside the scope of the decision.

So I leave it to another day and would suggest that's appropriate, but I want to make it clear that ECAO submits that some of the submissions are a bit circular.  For example, statements that Hydro One is the only one that can do it, because they have the knowledge.  Well, of course they have the knowledge because they're the ones doing it.  But if they are not the ones who are supposed to be doing it and someone else comes in, they will of course get up to speed and acquire the appropriate knowledge.

So, again, I don't want to belabour that, but I did want to make that point.

I apologize.  I'm trying to eliminate any things that have already been dealt with.

Mr. Stephenson took us to a case -- and I apologize, I don't have the name right off the top of my head -- it was Tab 2 of his materials, which was the Central Ontario Coalition case.  He made reference to a situation where, although a number of parties had intervened and a number of proposed routes had been sent out or notice had been put out to those intervenors, the Board itself added a new route and the court concluded that, therefore, that was not proper notice.

I would suggest that here the Board did not propose something on its own, in terms of the decision or the Section 3.3 of the decision that is in issue.  Rather, this was an issue that was raised as a result of the content of the connection procedure itself, which explicitly referred to the ability of Hydro One to bid for connection work for customer-owned facilities.  It was the subject of interrogatories and submissions, and so I say that case is distinguishable for that reason.

My final point just is in a brief response to Mr. Vegh's comments, and as I interpret them - and I am taking this at a very high level - but I essentially understood them to be comments of the importance of policy and use of policy to shape transmission policy going forward.


My simple comment on that would be that policy reasons may be an impetus to lead to change in legislation going forward, but until that happens there is applicable legislation.  It's determinative and it needs to be interpreted.


Subject to any questions, those would be my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Frank.


Mr. Engelberg, reply.

Further submissions by Mr. Engelberg


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I would like to deal, first, with a couple of points Mr. Frank made near the end of his submissions with respect to what Hydro One was seeking to be the scope of the stay.  And actually what Hydro One is asking for is to be able to continue a bit more the nature of the activities than Mr. Frank's understanding was.


What Hydro One is seeking to be able to do, pending the final determination of this matter, is not the particular activities that it has been undertaking to date, but the particular kinds of activities it has been undertaking to date.


So, for example, the difference in that wording would mean that Hydro One is asking to be able to continue connection work that it has not yet started for customers who come to require Hydro One to do that work pursuant to the Transmission System Code, pursuant to the sections that state that the customer has the right to require Hydro One to do that work.


And in Hydro One's submission, as was made earlier, that position would prevail whether there was a competitive bidding activity or some other kind of process.


Hydro One's submission is that if the Transmission System Code allows a customer to require Hydro One to do that kind of work, it makes no difference whether that requirement is imposed upon Hydro One by being selected as a result of a competitive bidding process, or by being required to do so without having a competitive bidding process; in other words, that's the customer's choice.


So the extent of the activities that Hydro One would like to be able to continue, pending a final determination of matter, would be limited only by the nature of the activities and not whether the activity had already specifically commenced for a specific customer.


Secondly, I wanted to address Mr. Frank's comment at the end regarding the situation that we have here is circular, in that other people can't do the work because Hydro One is doing the work.  The entire idea of having more than one service provider in the marketplace and the idea of not having a monopoly in the marketplace is the situation that we have today.


Hydro One has never maintained, and I don't believe any of the intervenors that have filed submissions or that appeared before you today, have maintained that there's anything in the law, in the marketplace, in the Transmission System Code, or in any other documents that prevents other people from undertaking this activity and getting into the marketplace.


So our submission is that Hydro One's continuation of this role at the request of the customers is not what is preventing others from doing the activity.  Indeed, there is no exclusion at all.


Now, one of the questions that was raised in the morning was whether the -- in the proceeding itself, Hydro One made a distinction for purposes of the interpretation of section 71, whether Hydro One made a distinction as to ownership.  I believe you asked that question, Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think what I was doing, Mr. Engelberg, was essentially referring to the filing that Hydro One made, which is predicated on the question of ownership.  Isn't that right?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.  And Hydro One's submission on that point is that the question of ownership is relevant for the interpretation of the section of the code that we're dealing with, 6.6, on contestability.  But what I have heard here today in the submissions of others and of Hydro One is ownership is not the test for the interpretation of section 71 of the OEB Act.


Now, with respect even to the test of ownership in the interpretation of section 6.6, Hydro One's submission is that section 6.6, on a plain reading of it, takes no rights away from the transmitter.  What section 6.6 does is impose obligations on the transmitter and gives protections to the transmitter.


What section 6.6 says is that, under certain situations, nobody can do work on Hydro One assets or on transmitter assets other than Hydro One.


Section 6.6 does not go on to say, in Hydro One's submission, that the transmitter can't do work on non transmitter-owned assets.


What it does is give the right to connection customers to require Hydro One to do work, under many circumstances, on assets that either will or will not eventually end up being transferred to the transmitter.


But I see nothing anywhere in 6.6 that limits the right of a transmitter to do work on a connection customer's assets, and I, frankly, don't understand how this section can be read that way.


Now, another question that was asked was:  What if the decision were limited to prohibit, simply prohibit the transmitter from doing construction work on connection assets that are owned by the customer?


My response to that would be - in addition to what I've said already, that there is no prohibition in the code for Hydro One to do so - it's impossible for the decision to be read that way.  Although Mr. Frank mentioned that the word "construction" was mentioned several times, the decision, in the area of page 11, is replete with examples where section 71 of the code is interpreted, where the limitation on construction is not used.  For example, there's a sentence here:

"The Board therefore concludes that section 71 prohibits Hydro One from acting as a contractor on behalf of the customer in relation to customer-owned facilities."


In my respectful submission, there are very few lawyers in this province who would advise their client that, in the face of this decision, this decision refers only to the matter of construction work on connection assets for customers.


There were submissions this morning that some of the nature of the work that Hydro One is doing, the third parties such as Bruce Power and Ontario Power Generation and others, is also in the category of construction.


So, in my respectful submission, the decision cannot be read narrowly, and I would submit that the Board would not even have been able to get there.  As soon as the Board embarked upon an analysis and interpretation of section 71, when it looked at Hydro One's connection procedures which were the subject matter of the proceeding, it would have been impossible to come up with a decision where the Board could have said, Although we have interpreted section 71 here and we've referred to 71 throughout, and we have found out what section 71 permits a transmitter to do and prohibits the transmitter to do, we only mean for that to apply to a certain very specific situation; the implication being that, in different circumstances for different work, maybe section 71 might mean something else.


And the result would be possible inconsistent results, different conclusions, and, therefore, it was proper of the Board to interpret section 71 for all purposes, but, in doing so -- what I have heard here today is that everybody has said in doing so, the Board needed to have a full set of facts as to how section 71 is being viewed by the parties in the marketplace, what activities they are doing, what activities need to be done, because all of those facts enlightened the Board and are helpful to the Board on how Section 71 is interpreted and what it, in fact, means.

So I am afraid that, in our submission, it is impossible for the decision to be read very narrowly as being applicable only to a certain kind of work.

I believe a question was also raised about the matter of irreparable harm, and I can only add to what I said this morning, that the question was raised in the context of Hydro One, but it is Hydro One's customers and consumers in general that would have perhaps a greater problem than Hydro One, if Hydro One were to cease providing such construction activities.

I would also like to add that Section 71 is the governing section that we need to look at in order to determine what a transmitter can do and not do, and what a distributor can do and not do.

If a code says otherwise, in my submission, the statute must prevail.

Now, in Hydro One's submission, with our interpretation of the code and the sections that we looked at in the code, the code is consistent with Section 71, but in our submission, one of the errors made in the decision that's being questioned that we seek to be reviewed, is that the code is being interpreted in a way that says things otherwise than the statute itself does, in that the statute, Section 71, doesn't talk about whether construction is or is not an integral part of transmission or the transmission business.

It doesn't talk about whether maintenance and services are.  And, therefore -- or protection and control engineering and construction services.  So in Hydro One's submission, unless the code says something consistent about construction, then Section 71 must prevail.

It is really not helpful to say that the decision mentions construction, because construction is not the test.

And the citing of the compliance bulletin is also not helpful in limiting the scope of the decision, because the compliance bulletin that was referred to in the decision is also not limited to construction.  It also talks about engineering services.

So I use that as justification to say we need to look at 71 and we need to interpret 71, and we can't look at the Transmission System Code and this decision and say that it applies only to a narrow range of activity, which is not mentioned in the section of the Act.

I think I had another couple of points that I wanted to respond to --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on that point, Mr. Engelberg.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You say Section 71(1) is what we should be looking at.  If I understand your submissions, there really are no limitations on what Hydro One, in terms of competitive businesses that you may be engaged in.

What are the limitations on the businesses that you see your company engaged in?

MR. ENGELBERG:  We haven't really gotten into that today, Mr. Sommerville.  But in our submission, if this were to go to a hearing, the submissions that would be made by a number of the parties, certainly Hydro One and --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am asking you for your company's views.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Okay.  Our company's views are that the business of transmission and distribution, as Mr. Moran said this morning, include a broad scope of activities that are either closely related to or ancillary to the business of transmission and distribution.

They don't include other remote activities that are not closely related, or ancillary to transmission and distribution.  But the kinds of activities that we have been talking about today, the protection and control, the construction of transformation connection assets, the provision of maintenance and engineering services to generators and other connection customers, all of those are closely related to and bound up with the definition of the business of carrying on a transmission and distribution business.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  There would be other activities which would not be, and for those, in our submission, Hydro One and any other transmitter would have to use an affiliate.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Now, since Mr. Frank brought up the two excerpts, and since there were questions this morning about Hydro One Networks Services Inc., I would like to refer to those two exhibits.  I think the first case was K4 and the next one was K5.  Is that correct?

MS. NOWINA:  That's right.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I can tell you, and this is a bit in the nature of giving evidence, but what we have before us is evidence from earlier hearings, so I guess it can't be avoided.

The major reason for which Hydro One Network Services Inc. was established was not to engage in competitive market activities or the kinds of ancillary services that we've been talking about here today.  It was to provide services to Hydro One Networks Inc., the company that is before you today.

The idea was that Hydro One Networks Inc. would own the assets, and would be the asset manager; and this other affiliate would provide all of the service to maintain the lines, do the line work, do the repairs, et cetera.

It was deemed that it would be appropriate, within that company, to do these other activities that we're talking about, as well.

It was the view of Ontario Hydro Networks Company Inc. at the time, which is now Hydro One Networks Inc., that those activities were to be in separate companies.  That was the view in the year 2000 when this hearing took place.  That is no longer Hydro One's view today.

Had it continued to be Hydro One's view, Network Services would have continued to be maintained, and the two companies would not have been rolled back together.

With respect to Exhibit K5, that's helpful a bit, because it answers some of the questions that the Board members had today.  I guess that it was approximately, I think, 2000, 2001 to approximately 2004 as to when that company was in operation.  And -- excuse me, 2002.  And that is -- those are the approximate dates.  They were correct.

The additional light that is shed on the situation by this particular case, K5, shows that the purpose of creating the second company, in addition to providing services to the first company, was that it would be unregulated.  

I think, as we all know, and as this decision states, that didn't work out at all.  The second company wasn't unregulated.  My understanding is that all of its revenues, profits, whatever, were rolled into Hydro One Networks Inc., and it became apparent, in addition to a number of other reasons, that there was simply no purpose to maintain these as separate companies.  There were problems with ARC as well, as the decision points out.

What is relevant is that there are now in place numerous accounting procedures established by the Board in rate-review decisions, in ARC, that ensure that there is no cross-subsidization and that, in that regard, there is no need for a separate corporation to be established in order to show transparency.

I believe it was stated also, right near the end, how can something be a competitive activity and a transmitting activity.  In Hydro One's submission, they can be both.  Hydro One has expertise as a transmitter, and if Hydro One's interpretation of Section 71 is correct, that the business of transmitting and distributing electricity includes ancillary activities all related to the integrated transmission system, then some of those activities will be monopoly activities and some of those facilities that use that transmission expertise will be competitive activities.


I just wanted to check with Mr. Hubert to see if there is anything I missed.


I have no further submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.


We are going to take a 15-minute recess to see if there is any direction we can give you today.  So we will adjourn now and we will resume again at 3:45.


--- Recess taken at 3:30 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:50 p.m. 

MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

The Board will provide its decision on the issues discussed today, in the threshold issues, as soon as possible.  

In the meantime, we will give you a little short-term direction, and that is, until we provide a decision on the threshold question, parties should proceed on the basis that the decision in question made no determination on Section 71 for services other than the construction of new connection facilities owned by customers.

Are there any questions?  Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have one question, Madam Chair.  Does that mean that Hydro One needs to file in the meantime revised connection procedures on the capital contributions section portions of the connection procedures?

MS. NOWINA:  You can hold off on that until you get our threshold decision, Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you everyone.  We are now adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.
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